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“We are pleased to report that the BlackBerry

(f) Accounting for stock compensation – Under U.S. GAAP, for any stock option with an exercise price that is
less than the market price on the date of grant, the difference between the exercise price and the market price
on the date of grant is recorded as compensation expense (“intrinsic value based method”). The Company grants

user base increased substantially to

stock options at the fair market value of the shares on the day preceding the date of the grant of the options.
Consequently, no compensation expense is recognized. This method is consistent with U.S. GAAP, APB Opinion
25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.

165,000 users in over 7,800 companies.”

SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, requires proforma disclosures of net income and
earnings per share, as if the fair value based method as opposed to the intrinsic value based method of accounting
for employee stock options had been applied. The disclosures in the following table show the Company’s net
income and earnings per share on a proforma basis using the fair value method as determined by using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model include:
For the year ended
Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

February 28, 1999

$

$

$

Estimated stock-based compensation costs
Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP

(7,568)
11,782

10,170
3,261

6,723
1,656

$

(19,350)

$

6,909

$

5,067

Basic

$

(0.26)

$

0.10

$

0.08

Diluted

$

(0.26)

$

0.09

$

0.08

Proforma net income (loss) per common share

Weighted average number of shares (000’s)
Basic

73,555

66,613

64,148

Diluted

73,555

72,996

66,855

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the following periods were calculated as follows using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:
For the year ended
Weighted average Black-Scholes value of options

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

February 28, 1999

$

$

$

34.82

10.77

1.92

Assumptions:

2001 Letter to Shareholders
Fellow Shareholders,
In fiscal 2001 we continued RIM’s tradition of growth and accomplishment. Revenue grew

Risk free interest rates

4%

4% - 5%

4% - 5%

Expected life in years

3.5

3.5

4.0

Expected dividend yield
Volatility

0%

0%

0%

100%

60% - 90%

50%

from $85 million to $221 million (an impressive 160% organic growth rate) as the number
(g) Recently issued pronouncements – Under Staff Accounting Bulletin 74, the Company is required to disclose certain

of companies adopting BlackBerry grew from 2,900 to over 7,800.

information related to new accounting standards which have not yet been adopted due to delayed effective dates.

The specific goals we laid out in last year’s annual report were to substantially increase
the BlackBerry user base, to deliver BlackBerry Enterprise

Edition™

for

Lotus®

Domino™,

to

FASB Statement No.133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, (“Statement 133”), as
amended by FASB Statements No. 137 and 138, is effective for the Company’s year ending February 28, 2002.
Statement 133 requires companies to recognize all of its derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the

implement Java™ support and to develop next-generation wireless devices and enter new

consolidated balance sheet at fair value and establish certain criteria to be met in order to designate a derivative

international markets.

instrument as a hedge and to deem a hedge as effective. The Company is currently assessing the impact of
Statement 133 on its consolidated financial position and results of operations.

We are pleased to report that the BlackBerry user base increased substantially to 165,000
users. BlackBerry for Lotus Domino was launched in January and is already being rolled
out in hundreds of corporations. Java support has been integrated and will be running on
all of RIM’s next-generation handhelds. We have completed our BlackBerry handheld for
GPRS/GSM and have announced relationships with carriers in Europe including BT Cellnet®
Limited, Esat Digifone, and Telfort Mobiel B.V.
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(a) Income taxes – For the years ended February 29, 2000 and February 28, 1999, under Canadian GAAP the
Company used the deferral method of accounting for income taxes such that deferred assets or liabilities arise
from differences between financial statement income and taxable income. For the year ended February 28, 2001,
there is no longer any material difference in accounting for income taxes between Canadian GAAP and U.S.
GAAP as a result of the accounting policy change in note 1(j).

Management Team

The tax effects of significant temporary differences in the prior year under U.S. GAAP are as follows:
February 29, 2000

Assets

We have added significant strength to the RIM team across all levels and departments. Three
significant additions are Don Morrison – Chief Operating Officer of BlackBerry, Larry Conlee –

Income tax losses available for carryforward

$

1,212

Financing costs

4,819

Research and development incentives

2,945
$

Chief Operating Officer of Production and Manufacturing, and Valdis Martinsons – Chief
Information Officer.

8,976

Don Morrison has operating responsibility for all customer-facing parts of RIM’s business,

Liabilities
Capital assets

4,270

Net future income tax assets

$

4,706

including all aspects of the BlackBerry service. Don’s background includes senior management
positions with AT&T Corp. in the U.S. and internationally, as well as senior management

(b) Start-up costs – The Company has capitalized as at February 28, 2001 the expenses incurred during the start-up
of the Company’s United Kingdom operations, scheduled to commence later in fiscal 2002. U.S. GAAP, Statement
of Position 98-5, Reporting on the Cost of Start-up Activities, prescribes that start-up costs should be expensed
as incurred.
(c) Change in functional currency – Effective August 31, 1999, the Company adopted the U.S. dollar as its
reporting currency. Prior to this change the Canadian dollar had been used as the Company’s reporting currency.

Don Morrison

positions with Bell Canada ®.

Chief Operating Officer,

Larry Conlee has operating responsibility for all engineering and production related activities

BlackBerry

at RIM, including all product development. Larry spent over 20 years at Motorola™, Inc.,
holding several senior management positions in their cellular and paging divisions.

Under Canadian GAAP, the Company’s financial statements for all periods presented through August 31, 1999
have been translated from Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at August 31, 1999.
Under U.S. GAAP, the financial statements for the periods prior to the change in reporting currency must be
translated to U.S. dollars using the current rate method, which uses specific year end and specific annual average

Valdis Martinsons is responsible for information technology and systems at RIM and oversees
the network operations centre for the BlackBerry service. One of Valdis’ initial projects is the

exchange rates as appropriate. The significant differences arising from the application of the current rate

implementation of an SAP system (an Enterprise wide Resource Planning system) for the

method to the periods presented are the effects on net income and comprehensive income described above.

Company. Valdis formerly held the senior management position in Information Technology at

(d) Statements of comprehensive income – U.S. GAAP, SFAS 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, establishes
standards for the reporting and display of comprehensive income and its components in general-purpose financial
statements. Comprehensive income is defined as the change in net assets of a business enterprise during a period
from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources, and includes all changes in equity

ATI™ Technologies Inc.
We are extremely pleased with these strong, experienced additions to the RIM team.

during a period except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. The only reportable
item of comprehensive income is the foreign currency translation in note 17 (c).
(e) Earnings per share – The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share
Employee Growth by Department Fiscal 1999 – 2001

under U.S. GAAP.

400

400

300

300

300

200

200

403
400

adjusted weighted average shares
and assumed conversions

73,555

72,996

66,855

Earnings (loss) per share under U.S. GAAP

186

300

Denominator for diluted earnings (loss) per share –

> 34

400

6,723

200
100

Basic

$

(0.10)

$

0.15

$

0.10

Diluted

$

(0.10)

$

0.14

$

0.10

100

0

200

0

100

136

$

104

10,170

213

$

70

(7,568)

500

100

34

$

500

118

available to common stockholders

500

309

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share

500

120

February 28, 1999

41

February 29, 2000

331

For the year ended
February 28, 2001

0

0

99 00 01

99 00 01

99 00 01

99 00 01

Research and Development

Sales and Marketing

Finance, Administration and IT

Manufacturing
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For periods up to and including August 31, 1999, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company denominated
in a currency other than the Canadian dollar were translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in
effect at the period-end and revenues and expenses were translated at the average rate during the period. Any
resulting gains or losses were included in income. For periods subsequent to August 31, 1999, transactions
which were incurred in currencies other than the U.S. dollar (the new functional currency) have been converted
to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the transaction date. Carrying values of non-U.S. dollar monetary
assets and liabilities are adjusted at each balance sheet date to reflect the functional currency rate in effect
at that date and any gains and losses from this restatement are included in income. Non-monetary assets are
translated at the historical exchange rate on the date of acquisition.
Historical financial statements and notes thereto up to and including August 31, 1999 have been restated into

Finance

U.S. dollars, in accordance with Canadian GAAP, using the August 31, 1999 closing exchange rate being a rate
of Cdn.$1.4888 per U.S.$1.00.

RIM’s revenue grew 160% from $85 million to $221 million. Revenue growth was driven by
BlackBerry, as well as new handheld supply relationships with companies such as America
Online, Inc. (“AOL”) and continued handheld sales to our carrier partners at Cingular SM
Interactive LLC (formerly BellSouth Wireless Data) and Motient™ Corporation.

17. Summary of Material Differences Between Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP) in Canada and the United States

>

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Canada (“Canadian GAAP”) which conform in all material respects with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) except as set forth below:

RIM has an extremely strong balance sheet after completing a follow-on equity offering
Consolidated Balance Sheets

in November 2000 that raised $580 million. At year-end, RIM had over $720 million in
cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities. We believe that these financial

Total assets under Canadian GAAP

assets will provide the resources necessary to continue to grow the business.

Adjustment – Future income taxes (a)

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

$

$

–

Adjustment – Start-up costs (b)

BlackBerry
BlackBerry continues to grow as the core driver of RIM’s business, establishing itself as
the corporate standard for wireless data communications in North America over the past

970,063

337,227
1,158

(1,357)

–

Total assets under U.S. GAAP

$

968,706

$

338,385

Total shareholders’ equity under Canadian GAAP

$

902,933

$

311,391

–

Adjustment – Future income taxes (a)
Adjustment – Start-up costs (b)

1,158

(1,357)

Total shareholders’ equity under U.S. GAAP

$

901,576

–
$

312,549

year. Users within corporations and government rely on BlackBerry to keep them connected
Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the year ended

to information and each other.
As we launch in Europe this summer, we believe BlackBerry will enjoy the same rapid
take-up and level of success as it has in North America.
The launch of BlackBerry Enterprise Edition for Lotus Domino effectively doubles our

Manufacturing

(6,211)
–

10,498
(336)

(1,357)

Foreign currency translation (c)
Earnings (loss) per share under U.S. GAAP

6,409
336

–

–

–

8

(22)

$

(7,568)

$

10,170

$

6,723

Basic

$

(0.10)

$

0.15

$

0.10

Diluted

$

(0.10)

$

0.14

$

0.10

$

(7,568)

$

10,170

$

opportunity for growth.

Other comprehensive income (loss) (d):

In North America, we added many channel partners for BlackBerry during the past year.

Foreign currency translation adjustment (c)

Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP

Aether™ Systems Inc., Bell Mobility ®, Cingular, Compaq® Computer Corporation, GoAmerica

$

Start-up costs (b)

previously been only able to read about BlackBerry and see others using it. With the

Production and

February 28, 1999

$

Future income taxes (a)

Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP

Larry Conlee

February 29, 2000

$

Adjustments

potential market in North America. Companies using Lotus Notes ® and Domino have

widespread availability of BlackBerry for Lotus Domino, we believe there is a significant

Chief Operating Officer,

Net income (loss) under Canadian GAAP

February 28, 2001

Comprehensive income (loss) under U.S. GAAP

–
$

(7,568)

1,474
$

11,644

6,723
(6,236)

$

487

Communications Corp., Motient, SkyTel® Communications, Inc., Rogers™ AT&T®, Vaultus,
Inc., and now IBM® (International Business Machines) all began selling BlackBerry as part
of their product offerings.
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The Company mitigates this risk in part by maintaining Canadian dollar funds. The Company also utilizes certain
financial instruments to manage the risk associated with fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. As at February
28, 2001 the Company has entered into foreign exchange contracts, which have been designated as hedge
instruments, to sell U.S. dollars and purchase Canadian dollars with an aggregate value amount of U.S. $44.5
million (2000 – nil). These contracts mature at varying dates with the latest being February 22, 2002. Gains
and losses on these hedging instruments are recognized in the same period as, and as part of, the hedged
transaction. There was no significant unrealized gain or loss on these contracts as at February 28, 2001.
Marketable securities are subject to market risk in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market

This allows us to focus on our core areas of expertise and to leverage the strength of the

prices. In order to reduce credit risk, the Company has invested only in securities of investment grade. Marketable
securities from one issuer comprised 14% (2000 – one issuer comprised 34%) of the total marketable securities.

combined sales and support resources of these channel partners.

The Company, in the normal course of business, monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews
the credit history of each new customer. The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that

Technology

corresponds to the specific credit risk of its customers, historical trends and economic circumstances. The
allowance as at February 28, 2001 is $4,976 (2000 – $64).

RIM’s core area of expertise continues to be industry-leading

While the Company sells to a variety of customers, one customer comprised 25% of trade receivables as at

wireless technology and enterprise software. In the past, we high-

February 28, 2001 (2000 – two customers, 46% and 18%). Additionally, 18% of the Company’s sales were to

lighted our focus on these fundamentals and this focus has not

one customer (2000 – two customers, 31% and 25%).
For certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including trade receivables, other receivables, accounts

changed. As in the past, we continue to invest heavily in recruiting

payable and accrued liabilities, the carrying amounts approximate their respective fair values due to their short

the most outstanding people and providing them with the best

maturities. Cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and long-term debt are carried at cost, which

possible tools and equipment to extend RIM’s technology lead.

approximates their respective fair values.

15. Segment Disclosures

We have 331 technical personnel at RIM, up from 186 last year. We are also substantially

The Company is organized and managed as a single reportable business segment. The Company’s operations are

expanding our technical facilities in Waterloo and Kanata, and have added a new facility

substantially all related to the research, design, manufacture and sales of wireless data communications products.
Operations include the manufacture of radios and other network access devices for the original equipment

in Toronto. We increased gross research and development (R&D) spending during the year

manufacturers as well as wireless products for the aftermarket. Substantially all revenue is derived from sales to

from $12.2 million to $25.7 million and expect to continue deploying more resources in this

customers in the United States. 8% of sales are to customers outside of the United States (2000 – 7%).

area during the upcoming year.

Financial information on the Company’s geographic areas is as follows:

Valdis Martinsons

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

February 28, 1999

$

$

$

United States

16,721
204,606

$

221,327

6,187
78,780

$

84,967

3,246
44,096

$

capabilities and continuous improvements to the BlackBerry offering.

47,342

Sales and Marketing

Total Assets
Canada

Chief Information Officer

development of new product form-factors, the extension of RIM’s enterprise software

Sales
Canada

Major projects in the upcoming year include the launch of next-generation products, the

$

United States

246,446

$

337,227

717,744

United Kingdom

5,873
$

970,063

$

–

Last year we discussed the goal of increasing the strength and awareness of the

–

BlackBerry brand.

337,227

The level of BlackBerry brand awareness has increased substantially in the past year.
16. Comparative Figures
Certain of the prior years’ figures have been reclassified for consistency with the current presentation.

Targeted advertising and the advertising campaigns of our partners, combined with a
tremendous amount of press and word of mouth, has led to high BlackBerry brand

The Company historically measured and presented its financial statements in Canadian dollars. Effective
September 1, 1999, as a result of the Company’s increased economic activity in the United States, the U.S.

awareness in the corporate community and in popular culture.

dollar became the functional currency of the Company’s operations and for the financial statements of the
Company. Effective the same date, the U.S. dollar was adopted as the reporting currency.

A major initiative for the sales and marketing group going forward will be preparing to
enter and support the European market as well as bringing online many new channel and
GPRS network partners.
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(b) Capital assets – The Company received $2,585 in government assistance towards the cost of capital assets
used in research and development activities (2000 – $2,177).
The Company was in compliance with all terms and conditions in respect to its two project development
agreements with TPC as at February 28, 2001 and February 29, 2000.

11. Write-Down of Long-Term Investments
During the year, the Company undertook a comprehensive review of the companies in which it had made long-term
investments earlier in the fiscal year. Based upon that review, the Company determined that impairment in the
carrying values of certain of its long-term investments did occur; the Company further determined that for certain
of these investments the decline in value suffered was other than temporary in nature. Consequently the Company
recorded a write-down in values totalling $14,750.

12. Earnings Per Share
The treasury stock method assumes that proceeds received upon the exercise of all warrants and options outstanding
in the period are used to repurchase the Company’s shares at the average share price during the period.

Manufacturing

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share.
For the year ended

Our manufacturing team successfully scaled production levels to match increased demand
February 28, 2001

over the past year without compromising quality. We have purchased a significantly larger

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share

manufacturing facility and expect it to be operational later this year. This new facility will

available to common stockholders

$

(6,211)

February 29, 2000

$

10,498

February 28, 1999

$

6,409

Denominator for basic earnings per share –

increase capacity from approximately one million units per year to over six million and will
be capable of manufacturing our current products as well as next-generation products. We
expect this new facility to support our growth over the next several years.
We believe our strategy of manufacturing RIM’s products in-house remains correct. The

to BlackBerry... and

180

64

–

6,203

2,643

–

6,383

2,707

73,555

72,996

66,855

Dilutive potential common shares:
Denominator for diluted earnings per share – adjusted

Basic

$

(0.08)

$

0.16

$

0.10

Diluted

$

(0.08)

$

0.14

$

0.10

13. Statement of Cash Flows Supplemental Information
The following summarizes interest and income taxes paid:
Year ended

of enabling and extending the business plans of our partners rather than placing ourselves

anyone who wants a

in contention with other members of the value chain. To be integrated with the wireless

mobile email product.”

plan of so many carriers, computer manufacturers, software companies, portals and Internet

InformationWeek

Service Providers (ISPs) is a testament to the fact that RIM is seen as an enabler of their
business plans.
In addition to channels and customers, RIM also partners with strategic suppliers.
Incorporating suppliers into our plans and vision early in the design process has produced
significant benefits, including preferred access to the best and newest component and chip
technologies.
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–

Earnings (loss) per share

would recommend it to

64,148

Employee stock options

control over quality and closely managing relationships with suppliers directly has been

RIM has been able to successfully leverage partnerships and alliances due to our strategy

66,613

Warrants

weighted average shares and assumed conversions

Partnerships and Alliances

73,555

Effect of dilutive securities:

benefits of integrating manufacturing with research and development, maintaining tight

strategic and effective.

“ We grew quite attached

weighted average shares outstanding (000’s)

February 28, 2001

Interest paid during the year
Income taxes paid during the year

$

456
897

February 29, 2000

$

–
756

February 28, 1999

$

–
389

14. Financial Instruments
The majority of the Company’s revenues and purchases of raw materials are realized in U.S. dollars while other
operating expenses, consisting generally of salaries and overhead, are incurred primarily in Canadian dollars.
As a result, the Company is exposed to a risk relating to foreign exchange fluctuations. At February 28, 2001,
approximately $16,426 or 3% of cash and cash equivalents, 11% of trade receivables and 27% of accounts
payable and accrued liabilities are denominated in Canadian dollars (2000 –157%, 18%, and 25%, respectively).

>
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The weighted average characteristics of options outstanding as at February 28, 2001 are as follows

Focus for Fiscal 2002

(in Canadian dollars):
Options Outstanding (000’s)

Options Exercisable (000’s)

Number
Outstanding at
February 28, 2001

Weighted average
remaining
life in years

$3.40 - $5.00

2,430

5.72

3.62

1,040

$5.25 - $9.60

2,115

4.78

6.23

171

6.17

$11.25 - $27.60

1,076

5.07

13.62

79

12.42

$29.40 - $73.50

1,553

6.35

54.61

38

57.27

746

6.59

106.09

9

92.20

Range of
exercise prices

$74.50 - $179.00
Total

Weighted average
exercise price

$

Number
Outstanding at
February 28, 2001

7,920

We discussed RIM’s strong performance relative to the specific goals we described in last

Weighted average
exercise price

year’s Letter to Shareholders. Going forward, we expect RIM’s core strategy to remain the

$

same – strong execution of our business plan. As RIM grows, the scale, scope and complexity

3.45

1,337

of business issues are magnified, but remaining focused on execution in research and
development, manufacturing, sales, marketing and information technology will continue
to move us forward.
In the upcoming year, we are targeting continued strong growth in demand for BlackBerry,

9. Commitments and Contingencies
(a) Lease commitment – The Company is committed to lease payments under operating leases for premises

both in North America and Europe, continued development of new products and services,

as follows:

expansion of our internal capabilities and the continued addition of strong technical, sales

For the year ending

and management personnel.

2002

$

1,628

2003

1,488

2004

1,364

2005

1,331

2006

1,331

Our specific goals for fiscal 2002 are as follows:
1. Continue to substantially increase the BlackBerry user base in North America for both
“BlackBerry wins

Microsoft ® Exchange and Lotus Domino environments.
(b) Contingency – In 1999, the Company was served with a complaint alleging that certain of the Company’s
products infringe a patent held by another party. This party had offered to extend to the Company a non-exclusive
licence under the patent for a one-time licencing fee of $4 million. The Company declined the licence and
has vigorously defended the infringement claim. The likelihood of loss and the ultimate amount, if any, are not
determinable at this time. Accordingly, no amount has been recorded in these financial statements.

2. Launch BlackBerry in Europe with BT Cellnet in the United Kingdom and major carriers

hands-down when it
comes to easy and
timely access to

in other European countries.
3. Launch BlackBerry with GSM/GPRS carriers in North America.
4. Complete development of our CDMA devices.

email messages.”
InfoWorld

10. Government Assistance
(a) Current expense – The Company has entered into two project development agreements with Technology
Partnerships Canada (“TPC”), which provide partial funding for certain research and development projects.
Funding from TPC for the “first project” totalled $3,900, and is repayable in the form of royalties of 2.2%
on gross product revenues resulting from the project. The Company is obligated to pay royalties on all project
revenues up to February 28, 2003, after which time the royalty base is expanded to include revenues from certain

5. Leverage the new Java 2 Micro Edition (J2ME) platform environment to catalyze
third-party development of software applications.
6. Transition to new SAP information system within RIM to further enable IT and
systems scalability.

additional products, and royalties will continue to be paid up to a maximum of $6,100.

7. Bring the new manufacturing facility online.

The second agreement with TPC, which was entered into during the previous fiscal year, is a three year research

8. Maintain the culture of innovation, growth and achievement.

and development project (the “second project”) under which total contributions from TPC will be a maximum of
$23,300. This contribution will be repayable in the form of royalties of 2.2% on gross product revenues resulting
from the second project. The Company is obligated to pay royalties on all project revenues up to February 28,
2007, after which time the royalty base is expanded to include revenues from certain additional products.

We thank you for your support during the past year and look forward to continued
success in fiscal 2002.

Royalties will continue to be paid up to a maximum of $39,300.
The Company has accrued $999 (2000 – nil) with respect to the first project. No amounts have been accrued

Yours Sincerely,

with respect to the second project as the conditions for repayment have not yet been met.
Government assistance, together with investment tax credits, has been applied to reduce research and development
expense as follows:
For the year ended
February 28, 2001

Research and development – gross

$

Less: government funding
Research and development – net

> 30

25,675

February 29, 2000

$

7,394
$

18,281

12,234

February 28, 1999

$

7,921

$

4,382

4,496
$

7,738

Mike Lazaridis

Jim Balsillie

President & Co-CEO

Chairman & Co-CEO

3,539
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Recently, Forbes Magazine named BlackBerry

Share Capital
Common share
purchase warrants

Common shares

as one of seven cult brands (including Nike

Balance, February 28, 1998

$

99,567

Exercise of options
Income tax reduction resulting from financing costs

99,567
49

–

(262)

519

–

519

99,873

–

99,873

196,744

–

196,744

1,791

–

1,791

–

370

Balance, February 28, 1999
Issued for cash

Total

$

–

(262)

Exercise of options

evolved into a national brand name.

–

49

Financing costs

and Ben & Jerry’s) that has successfully

$

Warrant issued
Financing costs

(9,887)

Income tax reduction resulting from financing costs

370

–

(9,887)

4,370

–

4,370

Balance, February 29, 2000

292,891

370

293,261

Public offering

610,664

–

610,664

4,887

–

Exercise of options
Financing costs

(30,462)

Income tax reduction resulting from financing costs
Balance, February 28, 2001

12,664
$

890,644

4,887

–

(30,462)

–
$

370

12,664
$

891,014

During the year ended February 28, 2001 the Company issued 134,391 common shares in exchange for 139,000
common share purchase warrants and no cash consideration. During the year ended February 29, 2000, the
Company issued a common share purchase warrant which entitles the holder to acquire 75,000 common shares for
$20.83 each from August 17, 2000 to August 17, 2004. This transaction was a non-cash transaction. The
Company has determined that the fair value of the warrant was $370 using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model which assumes an expected life of one year, volatility of 60%, risk free interest rate of 4.5% and no
expected dividend yield.
(b) Stock option plan – The Company has an incentive stock option plan for all of its directors, officers and
employees. The option exercise price is the fair market value of the Company’s common shares at the date of
grant. These options vest over a period of five years after which they are exercisable for seven or ten years after
the grant date. As at February 28, 2001, there were 7,919,890 options outstanding with exercise prices ranging
from Cdn.$3.40 to Cdn.$179.00. Options issued and outstanding for 1,337,000 shares are vested. There are
4,438,460 shares available for future grants under the plan.

RIM Products and Services

A summary of option activity since February 28, 1998 is shown below (in Canadian dollars):
Options Outstanding

RIM has an international reputation as a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of
innovative wireless solutions for the mobile communications market. At the core of RIM’s
products is leading-edge radio technology. This technology has been incorporated into all

Number (in 000’s)

Weighted average
exercise price

Range

Balance, February 28, 1998

4,231

$0.05 - $7.25

$

3.68

Granted during the year

2,860

$5.00 - $13.40

$

6.45

of RIM’s products, including our industry-leading radio modems and award-winning

Exercised during the year

(340)

$0.05 - $6.25

$

1.14

RIM Wireless Handhelds.

Cancelled during the year

(268)

$0.05 - $6.15

$

6.10

RIM’s radio modems are a family of high-performance radio-frequency transceivers designed for

Balance, February 28, 1999

6,483

$3.40 - $13.40

$

4.87

Granted during the year

1,821

$11.55 - $101.00

$

24.77

Exercised during the year

(826)

$3.40 - $13.85

$

4.35

integration into products by value-added resellers, system integrators and original equipment

Cancelled during the year

(235)

$3.40 - $48.40

$

7.49

manufacturers. They are specifically designed to integrate easily into portable devices.

Balance, February 29, 2000

7,243

$3.40 - $101.00

$

10.73

1,767

77.89

Granted during the year

Some recent applications include wirelessly enabling: ATM’s, point-of-sale terminals, laptops,
security systems, vending machines, automatic utility meter reading, Automatic Vehicle

>

$35.45 - $179.00

$

Exercised during the year

(1,018)

$3.40 - $74.85

$

9.17

Cancelled during the year

(72)

$3.40 - $179.00

$

56.47

$3.40 - $179.00

$

25.32

Balance, February 28, 2001

7,920

Location and fleet management /dispatching.
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The Company believes that a degree of uncertainty exists regarding the realization of those future tax assets and
that a valuation allowance is required. The Company will continue to evaluate and examine the valuation on
a regular basis, and as future uncertainties are resolved, the valuation allowance may be adjusted accordingly.
The Company has not provided for Canadian future income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on undistributed
earnings of its non-Canadian subsidiaries, since these earnings are intended to be re -invested indefinitely.

7. Long-Term Debt
During the previous fiscal year, the Company assumed long -term debt as a result of acquiring certain real estate
properties for its ongoing operations. At February 28, 2001 long -term debt consisted of three 6.75% mortgages,
against which certain land and buildings are pledged as collateral, due December 1, 2003, with total monthly
principal and interest payments of $52.

RIM Wireless Handhelds are revolutionary communication devices that allow mobile professionals

The long-term debt principal payments for the years 2002 through 2004 are as follows:

to send and receive email wherever they go. All RIM handhelds incorporate breakthrough

For the year ending
2002

$

2003
2004

198

wireless technology to deliver simple, mobile email access. Our handhelds are sold with a

211

variety of third-party solutions including: AOL Mobile CommunicatorSM, Motient’s eLink SM Fortified

6,117
$

6,526

At February 28, 2001 and February 29, 2000, the Company had not drawn on its authorized operating line
of credit of $13,000 (Cdn.$20,000). The line of credit bears interest on the outstanding balance at the
bank’s prime rate of 7.25% (2000 – prime rate equalled 6.75%). Any balance owing is due on demand and is

with Yahoo!™ and Cingular’s Interactive Messaging PLUS service.
RIM Wireless Handhelds are also an integral component of RIM’s BlackBerry wireless email
solution. BlackBerry Enterprise Edition, an end-to-end solution developed by RIM, is a

subject to a general security agreement.

complete, secure, integrated wireless email solution designed for corporate environments.

The line of credit is subject to compliance with certain covenants. The Company was in compliance with all

It combines advanced RIM Wireless Handhelds with desktop utilities, enterprise server

“BlackBerry has chosen

software, end-to-end encryption technology and tight integration with wireless data networks.

to do one very difficult

covenants as at February 28, 2001 and February 29, 2000.

thing – business email –

8. Capital Stock

extremely well.”

(a) Share capital – The Company has authorized an unlimited number of non-voting, redeemable, retractable
Class A common shares, an unlimited number of voting common shares and an unlimited number of non-voting,
cumulative, redeemable, retractable preferred shares. There are no Class A common shares or preferred shares
outstanding.

BusinessWeek

BlackBerry
Since its introduction in January 1999, BlackBerry has quickly

The following details the changes in issued and outstanding common shares and common share purchase
warrants for the period from February 28, 1998 to February 28, 2001:

become the leading wireless email solution for mobile professionals.
More importantly, BlackBerry has fundamentally changed the way

Number of Common Shares Outstanding

people interact with information and each other. It truly has become

Common shares

Common share
purchase warrants

Total

63,968,087

139,000

64,107,087

291,028

–

291,028

64,259,115

139,000

64,398,115

BlackBerry is especially popular in the financial and legal communities.

6,081,913

–

6,081,913

Some of the companies in these industries that have implemented

795,297

–

795,297

–

75,000

75,000

BlackBerry include: Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, Merrill Lynch & Co, Inc.,

71,136,325

214,000

71,350,325

Salomon Smith Barney Inc., Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP and Holland & Knight LLP.

6,000,000

–

6,000,000

Exercise of options

999,793

–

999,793

Exercise of warrants

134,391

Balance, February 28, 1998
Exercise of options
Balance, February 28, 1999
Issued for cash
Exercise of options
Warrants issued
Balance, February 29, 2000
Public offering

Balance, February 28, 2001

78,270,509

(139,000)
75,000

(4,609)
78,345,509

an indispensable solution for those who use it.

BlackBerry is also gaining recognition within the United States
and Canadian governments. In the last year, BlackBerry has been
added to several government purchasing contracts including the
U.S. government GSA (General Services Administration) schedule.
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6. Income Taxes
The difference between the amount of the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by multiplying
income before taxes by the statutory Canadian rate is reconciled as follows:
February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

44.0%

44.6%

Expected Canadian tax rate
Expected tax provision

$

1,549

$

February 28, 1999

44.6%

7,156

$

3,861

Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:
Manufacturing and processing activities

A part of BlackBerry’s success can be attributed to the strategic alliances that RIM has
formed with many multinational companies to deliver BlackBerry to enterprise customers.
Some of these partners include Aether, Bell Mobility, Cingular, Compaq, IBM, Motient,
Rogers AT&T, Vaultus and more.

(1,095)

Utilization of tax loss carryforwards
Research and development tax incentives

(288)

–

Non-deductible portion of unrealized capital losses

3,245

–

–

Foreign tax rate differences

2,080

–

–

995

572

427

$

February 28, 2001

$

Foreign

Berry Amazing

of BlackBerry in the enterprise market.
BlackBerry has been recognized by many
as the leading brand for wireless email and
has received numerous awards:

9,731

$

5,538

$

2,245

>

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Canadian

increased the awareness and recognition

(252)

February 29, 2000

February 28, 1999

Income (loss) before income taxes:

in their organizations.

for BlackBerry, which has dramatically

(285)
–

BlackBerry and more than 2,300 companies with BlackBerry Enterprise Server installed

national advertising and branding campaign

(1,791)

3,245

These alliances have helped BlackBerry experience a phenomenal growth rate over the

In April 2000, RIM launched its first

–

(838)

Change in valuation allowance

Other differences

past year of 160%. By the end of February 2001, there were over 7,800 companies using

(1,067)

–

(2,485)

$

6,005
$

3,520

16,036

$

–
$

8,654
–

16,036

$

8,654

> Editor’s Choice Award: In March 2001, BlackBerry
was named Editor’s Choice by Lotus Advisor
Magazine for its usability and integration with
Lotus Domino.

February 28, 2001

Wireless Productivity Award: In February
2001, BlackBerry won eWeek’s excellence Award
for Best Wireless Productivity.

$

Foreign

2,296

$

2,424

1,888

$

–

2,245
–

Future
Canadian

5,011
$

> 2000 PC World Award: In June 2000, BlackBerry
won the World Class Award for Best Wireless
Communication Device, from PC World Magazine
for its small and lightweight design and constant
access to email.

February 28, 1999

Current
Canadian

> Best

February 29, 2000

Provision for income taxes:

9,731

3,650
$

–

5,538

$

2,245

The tax effects of significant temporary differences are as follows:
February 28, 2001

Assets
Financing costs

$

11,779

Non-deductible reserves

3,245

Research and development incentives

4,286

Other tax carryforwards

1,507
20,817

Less: valuation allowance

3,245
17,572

Liabilities
Capital assets
Net future income tax assets

> 10

5,561
$

12,011
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Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of money market investment funds, corporate bonds, bank certificates
of deposit, high grade commercial and government agency paper and government treasury bills. Carrying values
of these investments approximate market value and will generate an approximate weighted average yield of 5.3%
as at February 28, 2001. The short-term investments as at February 28, 2001 all have maturity dates of less
than three months.
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European Expansion
In January 2001, RIM announced its first major European supply agreement to supply BT
Cellnet with BlackBerry Enterprise Edition for distribution in the U.K. The supply agreement
includes an initial commitment from BT Cellnet to order 175,000 BlackBerry Wireless

3. Marketable Securities

Handhelds™ with associated software and service. BlackBerry will operate over BT Cellnet’s

Marketable securities are comprised as follows:

new GPRS (General Packet Radio Service) high-speed network.

Preferred shares

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

$

$

–

Bonds and debentures
Discount notes

4,702

32,168

102,489

180,937

110,925

The GPRS standard and the BlackBerry solution were both designed to enable “always-on”
operation and allow users to maintain a virtual connection to the wireless network. The GPRS

218,116

network, which is based on a packet data technology, has been designed as an extension

Carrying values of preferred shares, bonds and debentures and discount notes approximate market value.

of the existing circuit-switched GSM (Global System for Mobile telecommunications)

Investments in bonds and debentures and discount notes represent holdings in corporate and government notes

network infrastructure.

$

213,105

$

with approximate average yields of 5.6% on February 28, 2001 (2000 – 5.4%). The marketable securities as at
February 28, 2001 all have maturity dates of less than six months.

The convergence of these technologies has allowed RIM to design the BlackBerry 5800

4. Inventory

Series of wireless handhelds to satisfy all the communication needs of a mobile professional.

Inventory is comprised as follows:

In addition to email and Short Messaging Service (SMS), RIM will also ship the BlackBerry

did a great job creating
a wireless phenomenon.

Raw materials

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

$

$

51,535

build from.”
Fortune

32,616

6,665

2,733

integrated support for Java 2 Micro Edition (J2ME), which opens application development

Finished goods

9,844

1,503

to a large, growing community of Java technology developers worldwide.

$

68,044

$

Now it has a base to

5800 Series of handhelds with built-in support for voice. These handhelds will also have

Work in process

36,852

RIM has also signed memoranda of understanding with two additional European carriers

5. Capital Assets

to offer BlackBerry to their corporate customers. Esat Digifone (in Ireland) and Telfort

Capital assets are comprised as follows:

Mobiel B.V. (in The Netherlands) are deploying a nationwide GPRS network in their respective

February 28, 2001
Accumulated
amortization

Cost

Land

“Research In Motion

$

6,845

$

–

Net book value

$

6,845

Buildings and leaseholds

26,741

1,276

25,465

Information technology

41,410

8,131

33,279

Furniture, fixtures, tooling, equipment and other

39,045
$

114,041

9,426
$

18,833

29,619
$

countries that will support the BlackBerry wireless email solution.

95,208

Technological Advancements
Over the past year, RIM has also announced numerous software improvements for BlackBerry.
BlackBerry Enterprise Edition for Lotus Domino was introduced in January 2001. This
announcement approximately doubled the number of potential enterprise customers that now

February 29, 2000
Accumulated
amortization

Cost

Land

$

3,110

$

–

Net book value

$

3,110

have the ability to stay wirelessly connected to their corporate email through BlackBerry.
It also was the first wireless handheld solution to offer tight integration with Lotus Notes

Buildings and leaseholds

12,528

539

11,989

Information technology

14,481

3,453

11,028

and Domino together with end-to-end security and ‘Always On,

13,170

Always Connected ®’ operation. BlackBerry Enterprise Edition for

Furniture, fixtures, tooling, equipment and other

18,883
$

49,002

5,713
$

9,705

$

39,297

Lotus Domino has already been recognized for its usability and
During the prior year, land and buildings in the amount of $6,726 were acquired by the assumption of mortgages.

integration with Lotus Domino by receiving the Editor’s Choice Gold
Award from Lotus Advisor Magazine.
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In March 2001, RIM announced another major breakthrough in wireless enterprise applications
with the introduction of wireless calendar support for BlackBerry. With wireless calendar

Under this new accounting standard, the liability method of tax allocation is used to account for income taxes.
Under this method, future tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon differences between the financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and measured using the substantially enacted tax rates and laws

synchronization, BlackBerry Enterprise Server and BlackBerry Wireless Handhelds exchange

that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

calendar events wirelessly and securely. The user’s online calendar and handheld calendar

Prior to the adoption of the new accounting standard, the provision for income taxes was determined using the

are automatically synchronized over-the-air without need of a cradle. Now, with wireless
email and calendar, customers can stay connected to the information that drives their day.
Finally, we are very proud of having the BlackBerry Wireless Handheld awarded the FIPS

deferral method of tax allocation under which income taxes are provided for in the year in which transactions
affect net income regardless of when such transactions are recognized for tax purposes.
(k) Revenue recognition – The Company earns revenue primarily from sales of handheld devices, wireless
services and software licence arrangements.
Revenue from the sale of handheld device products and other equipment is recognized when title is transferred

140-1 Validation for its embedded encryption technology by the National Institute of

to the customer, all significant contractual obligations have been satisfied, the sales price is fixed and

Standards and Technology (NIST). FIPS 140 -1 Validation is an important, and often

determinable and collection is reasonably assured. Provisions are made at the time of sale for warranties, royalties

mandatory, purchasing criteria for many organizations and will help facilitate continued
adoption of BlackBerry in the government sector.
By continuing to invest in the right people, technology and tools, RIM will ensure that
BlackBerry remains the leader in the wireless email marketplace.

and estimated product returns.
Revenue from wireless services and software licences is recognized rateably on a monthly basis in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the customer contracts and when collection is reasonably assured.
Revenue from the sale of software is recognized in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition.
Deferred revenue relates primarily to amounts received from service subscribers for services to be provided in
future periods.

Third-Party Applications

(l) Warranty expense – The Company provides for a warranty expense at the time of shipment based on an estimate
of these anticipated costs.

In the last year, there have been many custom solutions and applications announced that

(m) Research and development – The Company is engaged at all times in research and development work.

are designed to work with RIM Wireless Handhelds and the BlackBerry solution. Some of

Research and development costs, other than capital asset acquisitions, are charged as an operating expense of
the Company as incurred unless they meet generally accepted accounting principles for deferral.

these include Web content services, eBusiness tools, financial applications, pharmaceutical
(n) Government assistance – Government assistance towards research and development expenditures is received

services and attachment handling software.

as grants from Technology Partnerships Canada and in the form of investment tax credits. Assistance related to
the acquisition of capital assets used for research and development is credited against the related capital assets

> AvantGo 4.0 M-Business Server™ from AvantGo™
Inc. and BlackBerry handhelds, together allow
enterprises to deploy wireless Web-based
business applications and email solutions to
mobile professionals.

> Motient and Yahoo!® teamed together to provide

“I’ve been using (RIM’s)
BlackBerry for the
past two months and
have found it to be a
transforming experience.”
Internet Week
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a wireless service, branded as eLink Fortified with
Yahoo!, allowing consumers easy access to Yahoo!
content and services via Motient’s network and
RIM handhelds.

> Information Builders Inc. offers WebFOCUS-based
applications integrated with BlackBerry. WebFOCUS
is an integrated suite of Business Intelligence
tools through which organizations can deliver
information easily and instantly to management,
employees, customers, partners and vendors.

to extend enterprise applications and information
to BlackBerry handhelds.

and all other assistance is credited against related expenses, as incurred.
(o) Earnings per share – Basic earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of shares

> OracleMobile™, Inc. and RIM are working together

outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated on the weighted average number of shares that

to promote Ask@OracleMobile and Oracle “Portalto-Go” via BlackBerry. With Ask@OracleMobile,
users of RIM handhelds can get Web information
and services whenever they want by sending a
short email.

would have been outstanding during the year had all the dilutive options been exercised at the beginning of the

> E*TRADE launched its integrated brokerage and
banking solution on RIM Wireless Handhelds.

reported except that diluted earnings per share for the year ended February 29, 2000 decreased from $0.15 to $0.14.

> RxRite.com Inc. announced

in note 8(b). The options are granted at the fair market value of the shares on the day of grant of the options.

an ePrescription
application built on the BlackBerry wireless email
solution that enables physicians to connect with
its Internet-based prescription service.

> ItrezzoAgent from Itrezzo, converts file attachments

> Brience, Inc. and RIM are working together to offer

sent to the user’s BlackBerry handheld via email.

corporations wireless access to a broad range of
existing enterprise applications in addition to
corporate email systems to enable corporations

> InStep Group announced InStep Print™ support

year, or date of issuance, if issued during the fiscal year. Effective March 1, 2000, the Company has adopted the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants recommendations relating to the accounting for earnings per share. The
recommendations require the application of the treasury stock method for the calculation of the dilutive effect of stock
options and have been applied retroactively. There is no impact on basic or diluted earnings per share previously

(p) Stock-based compensation plan – The Company has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described
No compensation expense is recognized when stock options are issued to employees. Any consideration paid
by employees on exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised as follows:
February 28, 2001

for the BlackBerry handhelds, providing them
with the ability to print.

>

Balances with banks

$

Short-term investments

6,002

February 29, 2000

$

502,820
$

508,822

(2,252)
2,378

$

126
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> Research In Motion Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Software applications for BlackBerry and RIM handhelds are now

Nature of Business

receiving additional exposure to the user community by being

Research In Motion Limited (the “Company”) is in the business of designing, manufacturing and marketing wireless

distributed on the Web by Handango™, Inc., and Tucows.Com™, Inc.

Internet appliances and services and radio modems for the mobile data communications market. The Company was

With their distribution capabilities, eCommerce solutions, and

incorporated on March 7, 1984 under the Ontario Business Corporations Act. The Company’s shares trade publicly on
The Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol RIM and on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol RIMM.

developer relationships, they will be able to help create a strong market for third-party
applications that support RIM products and services.

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) General – These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Canada (“Canadian GAAP”) on a basis consistent with prior years,

Partnerships

which conforms in all material respects with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“U.S. GAAP”), except as presented in note 17.
(b) Basis of consolidation – The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the subsidiaries
with intercompany transactions and balances eliminated. All of the subsidiaries are wholly-owned.
(c) Use of estimates – The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance

> Certicom™ Corp.– July 2000: RIM and Certicom,

> Motient – December 2000: RIM announced an

a leading provider of mobile eCommerce security,
announced an agreement to enable trusted mobile
commerce over wireless networks.

expanded relationship with Motient, whereby
RIM will resell Motient’s wireless data network
services in conjunction with BlackBerry through
RIM’s distribution channels.

with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions

> Compaq– August 2000: RIM and Compaq expanded

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities

their relationship to offer customers an end-to-end
wireless email solution, co-branded as the iPAQ™
BlackBerry Wireless Email Solution.

as at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
(d) Foreign currency translation – Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities of the Canadian parent
company and wholly-owned subsidiaries that are considered to be fully integrated operations are translated into
United States dollars, the currency of measurement, using the temporal method. Accordingly, monetary assets
and liabilities are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, non monetary assets

> Rogers AT&T – September

2000: Rogers AT&T
announced they will be distributing BlackBerry
Enterprise Edition, in addition to BlackBerry
Internet Edition™, in Canada.

and liabilities at historical exchange rates, and revenues and expenses at the rates of exchange prevailing when

from the balance sheet date are deferred and amortized over the remaining period.

> Bell Mobility – September 2000: Bell Mobility
announced they will offer BlackBerry Enterprise
Edition and BlackBerry Internet Edition in Canada.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash balances with banks and short-term

> Cingular – November

the transactions occurred. Resulting exchange gains and losses are included in income. Any unrealized foreign
exchange gains or losses relating to monetary items with fixed or ascertainable lives extending beyond one year

investments with original maturities of less than three months.
(f) Marketable securities – Marketable securities include preference shares, debentures and discount notes with
original maturities in excess of three months and are carried at the lower of cost and market value.
(g) Inventory – Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost determined on a
first-in-first-out basis. Cost includes the cost of materials plus direct labour applied to the product and the
applicable share of manufacturing overhead.
(h) Capital assets – Capital assets are stated at cost and amortization is provided using the following methods:
Buildings and leaseholds

- Straight-line over terms between 5 and 40 years

Information technology

- Straight-line over five years

Furniture, fixtures, tooling, equipment and other

- 20% per annum on declining balance for furniture,
fixtures, tooling and equipment; straight-line over
seventeen years for other

(i) Long-term investments – Long-term investments in companies where the Company has less than a 20%
ownership interest and does not control or exercise significant influence are accounted for by the cost method.
The Company regularly reviews the carrying values of its long-term investments to determine whether a decline

2000: RIM signs supply
agreement with Cingular for RIM handhelds as
well as a distribution agreement for BlackBerry.

> AOL– November 2000: AOL announced availability
of AOL Mobile Communicator, which provides
wireless access to AOL email and instant messaging
using RIM Wireless Handhelds.

> QUALCOMM®

Incorporated – December 2000:
QUALCOMM and RIM announced a Code Division
Multiple Access (CDMA) subscriber unit licence
agreement.

> EarthLink – December 2000: America’s second
largest Internet service provider, EarthLink,
announced its launch of the BlackBerry wireless
email solution.

> Vaultus – January 2001: Vaultus and RIM formed
a strategic alliance to deliver wireless solutions
that enable enterprise customers to reduce costs
and gain greater sales efficiencies.

> IBM Global Services – January 2001: IBM Global

“As a wireless email
client, it’s a dream.”
ZDNET

Services announced plans to add BlackBerrybased solutions to its portfolio of wireless
solutions and establish a team to focus on the
integration of BlackBerry with enterprise email
and intranet backend systems.

> BT Cellnet – February

2001: BT Cellnet signed
a supply agreement to distribute the BlackBerry
wireless email solution in the U.K.

> Lucent

Technologies, Inc.– March 2001: Lucent
and RIM announced they will cooperate in
interoperability testing for next- generation
networks and coordinate trials with mobile
network operators around the world.

> Microcell

Connexions Inc. – December 2000:
RIM and Microcell announced a relationship
whereby they will work together to enable RIM’s
future products and services to be based on GPRS
technology and operate on Microcell’s GSMbased national network.

other than temporary in nature has occurred with any.
(j) Income taxes – Effective March 1, 2000, the Company adopted the new accounting recommendations related
to income taxes on a retroactive basis without restating the financial statements of any prior periods. As a result of
adopting the new accounting recommendations, the previously unrecognized benefit of financing costs of $1.1 million
has now been reflected as an adjustment to share capital. Retained earnings was unaffected by this change.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended

Overview

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

February 28, 1999

$

$

$

Cash flows from operating activities
In fiscal 2001, Research In Motion continued its dramatic growth as an

Net income (loss) for the year

internationally recognized leader in wireless communications. The BlackBerry

Items not requiring an outlay of cash:

wireless email solution again proved to be a main revenue-driver for RIM,
increasing beyond internal expectations to 54% of revenue in fiscal 2001
versus 19% in the previous year. We anticipate that BlackBerry will continue
to drive the Company’s growth in the future with the development of nextgeneration devices and applications.
Tight execution of RIM’s business plan contributed to the success of
BlackBerry Enterprise Edition for Lotus Domino, wireless calendar support

Chief Financial Officer

for BlackBerry and the RIM 857 Wireless Handheld.

10,498

6,409

Amortization

9,123

4,683

2,783

Future income taxes

5,011

3,650

–

Non-cash transaction

–

Write-down of long-term investments (note 11)

(3,000)

14,750

Foreign exchange gain

–

–

(8)

fiscal 2001. During fiscal 2001, the Company developed and introduced
Dennis Kavelman

(6,211)

–

(162)

(342)

22,665

15,669

8,850

(23,029)

(16,110)

(3,582)

Net changes in non-cash working capital items related to operations:
Trade receivables

Revenue for the year increased 160% to $221.3 million from $85.0 million in the previous year.

Other receivables

Net income before the write-down of long-term investments (the “write-down”) of $14.8 million decreased to

Inventory

$8.5 million from $10.5 million. Net loss after the write-down was $6.2 million.

Prepaid expenses

RIM’s revenues are generated through a number of sources. Sales of wireless handhelds to large corporate

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(7,859)

(4,649)

(31,192)

(17,040)

3,082

931

34,859

3,269

customers, strategic partners and network operators continue to yield significant revenue streams for the Company.

Income taxes payable

2,027

(2,679)

Additionally, the Company now earns an increasing amount of its revenues from recurring monthly revenues for

Deferred revenue

4,593

4,862

BlackBerry services. Revenues are also generated from:

5,146

1,111
(9,469)
(3,782)
6,173
735
1,274

(15,747)

1,310

• sales of enterprise server software and user licences
• sales of radio modems to OEM manufacturers

Cash flows from financing activities
2,585

2,177

289

• non-recurring engineering development services
• software licences.

Issuance of share capital and warrants

615,551

198,535

49

Financing costs

(30,462)

(9,065)

257

Sales and marketing channels include direct sales to corporate customers, distribution by network carriers and

Repayment of debt

(185)

(15)

–

Government funding received to offset capital asset acquisitions

Internet service providers and distribution by value-added resellers for the BlackBerry solution.

587,489

191,632

(24,419)

595

Cash flows from investing activities

Basis of Presentation

Acquisition of capital assets

(68,146)

The Company historically measured and presented its financial statements in Canadian dollars. Effective

Acquisition of long-term investments

(20,812)

September 1, 1999, as a result of the Company’s increased economic activity in the United States (“U.S.”),

Acquisition of marketable securities

the U.S. dollar became the functional currency of the Company’s operations and for the financial statements of

Proceeds on sale and maturity of marketable securities

(388,672)

Foreign exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents

in a currency other than the Canadian dollar were translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the year

at the period-end and revenues and expenses were translated at the average rate during the period. Any resulting
gains or losses were included in income. For periods subsequent to August 31, 1999, foreign currency denominated
assets and liabilities of the Canadian parent company and wholly-owned subsidiaries that are considered to be fully
integrated operations are translated into United States dollars, the currency of measurement, using the temporal

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

126
508,822

(57,116)

162

508,696

$

29,374

(185,539)

8

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

(77,630)

98,848

(83,947)

For periods up to and including August 31, 1999, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company denominated

–

(259,968)

393,683

the Company. Effective the same date, the U.S. dollar was adopted as the reporting currency.

(8,860)

–

$

342

(9,492)

(54,869)

9,618

64,487

126

$

9,618

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

method. Accordingly, monetary assets and liabilities are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance
sheet date, non monetary assets and liabilities at historical exchange rates, and revenues and expenses at the rates
of exchange prevailing when the transactions occurred. Resulting exchange gains and losses are included in income.
Any unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses relating to monetary items with fixed or ascertainable lives extending
beyond one year from the balance sheet date are deferred and amortized over the remaining period.
Historical financial statements and notes thereto up to and including August 31, 1999 have been restated into
U.S. dollars, in accordance with Canadian GAAP, using the August 31, 1999 closing exchange rate being a rate
of Cdn. $1.4888 per U.S. $1.00.
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> Research In Motion Limited

Results of Operations
Operating Highlights
(U.S. $000’s)

Fiscal 2001

Increase/
(Decrease)

Fiscal 2000

For the year ended

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000,

February 28, 1999

Revenue

$

221,327

$

84,967

$ 136,360

Revenue

$

$

$

47,342

Gross margin

$

87,475

$

36,393

$

51,082

$

(1,959)

221,327

84,967

Cost of sales

133,852

48,574

28,767

Gross margin percentage

Gross margin

87,475

36,393

18,575

Net income before write-down of long-term investments

Research and development (net of government funding) (note 10[a])

18,281

7,738

4,382

Selling, marketing and administration

65,200

13,904

6,546

8,645

4,683

2,783

92,126

26,325

13,711

Amortization

Income (loss) from operations

(4,651)

10,068

4,864

$

Year ended February 28, 2001

$

5,968

3,790
8,654

Write-down of long-term investments (note 11)

14,750

–

–

3,520

16,036

8,654

Current

4,720

1,888

2,245

Future

5,011

3,650

–

9,731

5,538

2,245

Year ended February 29, 2000

6,409

Revenue

Retained earnings, beginning of year

10,498

18,130
$

11,919

7,632

1,223

$

18,130

$

7,632

Earnings (loss) per share (note 12)
Basic

$

(0.08)

$

0.16

$

0.10

Diluted

$

(0.08)

$

0.14

$

0.10

$

10,498

$

10,498

(3.3%)

–

(6,211)

Third Quarter

$

34,486

16,036

(6,211)

90,079

Gross margin

18,270

Net income (loss)

Fourth Quarter

Revenue

22,921

Provision for income taxes (note 6)

8,539

Selected Quarterly Financial Data – Unaudited

Income before write-down of long-term investments and income taxes

Income before income taxes

42.8%

14,750

Net income (loss)

Investment income

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

$

Write-down of long-term investments

Expenses

Retained earnings, end of year

39.5%

Second Quarter

61,629

$

23,704

42,521

First Quarter

$

17,144

27,098
12,141

Net income (loss) before write-down
of long-term investments

8,280

Net income (loss)

1,496

(1,625)

$

(6,470)

$

1,496

$

Basic

$

(0.08)

$

0.02

$

Diluted

$

(0.08)

$

0.02

$

(1,625)

388
$

388

(0.02)

$

0.01

(0.02)

$

–

Earnings (loss) per share

Fourth Quarter

$

Gross margin

25,801

Third Quarter

$

10,267

Net income

Second Quarter

23,689

$

10,836

19,278

First Quarter

$

16,199

8,503

6,787

$

3,209

$

3,181

$

2,322

$

1,786

Basic

$

0.05

$

0.05

$

0.03

$

0.03

Diluted

$

0.05

$

0.04

$

0.03

$

0.03

Earnings per share

Revenue
Revenue increased 160% to $221.3 million from $85.0 million for the year ended February 28, 2001. This
increase was primarily due to sales of BlackBerry, which accounted for 54% of revenues and the RIM Wireless
Handhelds, which accounted for 37% of the Company’s revenues. The remaining 9% of revenue was comprised
of OEM radio modems, software licence revenue, non-recurring engineering charges and wireless PC cards. For
the year ended February 29, 2000, BlackBerry accounted for 19% of revenue, the RIM Wireless Handhelds
for 56% and the remaining 25% of revenue was comprised of OEM radio modems, software licence revenue,
non-recurring engineering charges and wireless PC cards.

Revenue by Product

Revenue by Product

Fiscal 2001

Fiscal 2000

OEM & Other

OEM & Other
9%

37%

RIM Wireless
Handhelds

25%
56%
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Gross Margin

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Gross margins increased to $87.5 million or 39.5% in the fiscal year, compared to $36.4 million or 42.8%
in the previous year. The decrease in gross margin percentage was primarily due to changes in the revenue mix.
Fiscal 2001 included a significantly lower proportion of higher margin items such as software, licence and other
types of non-recurring revenues compared to the previous year. This reduced the consolidated gross margin ratio.

As at

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

$

$

Assets
Current

Research and Development
Gross research and development expenditures, primarily composed of salaries for technical personnel, costs of
related engineering materials, software tools and related information technology infrastructure support as well as

Cash and cash equivalents (note 2)
Marketable securities (note 3)
Trade receivables

508,822

126

213,105

218,116

50,268

27,239

subcontracted research and development costs, increased 110% to $25.7 million or 11.6% of revenue in the

Other receivables

13,894

6,035

year ended February 28, 2001 compared to $12.2 million or 14.4% in the previous year. After accounting for

Inventory (note 4)

68,044

36,852

government funding in the form of expense reimbursements and investment tax credits of $7.4 million for the

Prepaid expenses

2,932

6,014

857,065

294,382

Capital assets (note 5)

95,208

39,297

Investments (note 11)

5,779

–

current year and $4.5 million in the previous year, net research and development expenditures in fiscal 2001
represented 8.3% of total revenues versus 9.1% in the previous year. The Company benefited from a full year’s
government funding reimbursement with respect to its second of two project development agreements with
Technology Partnerships Canada (“TPC”) in fiscal 2001, versus a partial year in fiscal 2000, as the agreement
with TPC was negotiated and finalized during fiscal 2000.

Selling, Marketing and Administrative Expenses

Future income tax assets (note 6)

12,011

3,548

$

970,063

$

337,227

$

45,892

$

11,033

Liabilities
Current

Selling, marketing and administrative expenses were $65.2 million for the current year, compared to $13.9
million for fiscal 2000. Consistent with its long-term strategic objectives and planning, RIM increased its
expense levels and personnel numbers to support BlackBerry and other sales and distribution channels including
Cingular Interactive, Aether Systems, Motient Corporation, America Online and Compaq Computer Corporation.
Additionally, increased expenses resulted from:
• increased sales and marketing initiatives due to BlackBerry
• continued focus on joint channel marketing activities
• additional direct sales personnel
• increased infrastructure and staffing in customer fulfilment activities such as a call centre, order entry and
processing, enhancements to billing systems, etc., and
• increased infrastructure and staffing in administrative, financial and legal services to better support the
Company’s dramatic rate of internal growth.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue
Current portion of long-term debt (note 7)

Long-term debt (note 7)

3,842

1,815

10,870

6,277

198

185

60,802

19,310

6,328

6,526

67,130

25,836

891,014

293,261

11,919

18,130

Shareholders’ equity
Capital stock (note 8)
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity

902,933
$

970,063

311,391
$

337,227

Amortization
Amortization expense increased by $3.9 million to $8.6 million or 3.9% of revenue for the year ended February

Commitments and contingencies (note 9)
See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

28, 2001 from $4.7 million or 5.5% in the prior year. The current year’s expense reflects the incremental effect of
a partial year’s amortization expense for fiscal 2001 capital expenditures of $68.1 million plus a full year’s

On behalf of the Board

amortization for the prior year’s capital expenditures. The Company made major additions in the 2000 and 2001
fiscal years, including land and office buildings, production equipment and tooling, research and development
computers and equipment and computer infrastructure for the BlackBerry solution. Additionally, RIM made a

Jim Balsillie

Douglas Wright

Director

Director

significant investment in the acquisition, configuration and implementation of a fully integrated SAP software
and business processes engineering solution system; the first phase is scheduled for implementation during the
second quarter of fiscal 2002. Amortization of this capital investment will commence once the system has been
implemented successfully.

Investment Income
Investment income increased to $22.9 million in the year ended February 28, 2001 from $6.0 million in the
prior year. The increase primarily reflects the Company’s increased interest earnings on the higher average cash,
cash equivalents and marketable security balances during the last two quarters of the current fiscal year resulting
from the Company’s share issue, which realized net proceeds after financing costs of $580.2 million.
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Write -Down of Long-Term Investments
The Company made several strategic long-term investments in certain technology companies in fiscal 2001,

To the Shareholders of Research In Motion Limited

>
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generally representing convertible equity ownership positions of less than 10%. The Company did not exercise

The management of Research In Motion Limited is responsible for the preparation of the accompanying financial

significant influence with respect to any of these investees during the year. The Company undertook a

statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, including estimates and

comprehensive review of these long-term investments and determined that the financial, operational and

judgements required for such preparation. The financial information appearing throughout this Annual Report is

strategic circumstances relating to most of these investments were materially and adversely different as at

consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

February 28, 2001 than at the time the investments were originally made.

In fulfilling its responsibility for the reliability and integrity of financial information, management has established and

In its review of these investments for impairment the Company considered the following matters:

maintains a system of internal controls and budgeting procedures. Management believes these systems and controls

• most of the investees required additional funding in the near term but their prospects were limited, both in the
current public and venture capital markets

provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are executed in accordance with management’s
authorization and financial records are reliable for the preparation of consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements are reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee and Board of Directors,

• in certain cases, the investment was made based upon a business model and /or plan that, in the Company’s
view, is no longer likely to be successfully executed, if at all

independent auditors appointed by the shareholders, have examined the consolidated financial statements in

• in certain cases actual “cash burn” rates and revised estimated “costs to market” are now well in excess of
business plans, and

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and their report follows.

• technology being developed is not necessarily proprietary and hence less valuable.

which oversee management’s reporting responsibilities. Zeifman & Company LLP and Ernst & Young LLP, the

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists entirely of non-management independent
directors, meets with management and the independent auditors to ensure that each is discharging its respective

>

The Company has also declined to participate in proposed additional fundings for certain of these investees
subsequent to initial investments.

responsibilities relating to the financial statements. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit

Based upon the foregoing review, the Company determined that an impairment in the carrying values of certain

Committee to discuss audit findings, financial reporting and other related matters.

of its long-term investments had occurred during the fourth quarter; and that the decline in value was other than
temporary. Consequently the Company recorded a write-down of its investments in the amount of $14.8 million.

Income Taxes
Waterloo, Ontario

Mike Lazaridis
President & Co-CEO

Dennis Kavelman
Chief Financial Officer

Effective March 1, 2000 the Company adopted CICA Handbook Section 3465 – Income Taxes on a retroactive
basis without restatement. As a result of adopting the new accounting recommendations, the tax benefit of
previously unrecognized financing costs was reflected as an increase to share capital of $1.1 million.

Auditors’ Report

The Company’s fiscal 2001 consolidated net tax provision and effective tax rate, when compared to its expected
Canadian tax rate after allowing for the manufacturing and processing profits deduction, were materially affected by:

To the Shareholders of Research In Motion Limited
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Research In Motion Limited as at February 28, 2001 and
February 29, 2000 and the consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings and cash flows for each of
the years in the three year period ended February 28, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

• the $14.8 million write-down of long-term investments. For tax purposes, this write-down would be characterized as
a capital loss and consequently results in a higher effective rate. Additionally, the Company determined that it should
record a valuation allowance against the tax recovery booked on the capital loss because management determined
that it was more likely than not that the Company would not be able to utilize this capital loss carryforward, and
• tax rates in different foreign jurisdictions.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

The Company expects its fiscal 2002 effective tax rate to be approximately 35%.

Net Income
Net income for the current year, before the write-down of long-term investments of $14.8 million, equalled $8.5
million compared to $10.5 million for fiscal 2000. This decrease, despite the growth in gross margin, was

position of the Company as at February 28, 2001 and February 29, 2000 and the results of its operations and

primarily due to the increase in selling, marketing and administration and research and development costs,

its cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended February 28, 2001 in accordance with

with these increases being partially offset by the increase in net investment income.

Canadian generally accepted accounting standards.
As described in note 1(j), effective March 1, 2000 the Company began accounting for income taxes in accordance

Liquidity and Capital Resources

with Section 3465 of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook. In addition, as described in

Cash flow generated from operating activities was $5.1 million in the current fiscal year compared to cash flow

note 1(o), the Company implemented Section 3500 – Earnings Per Share of the Canadian Institute of Chartered

used in operating activities of $15.7 million in the prior year, an improvement of $20.8 million. Significant

Accountants Handbook.

increases in accounts receivable and inventory during the 2001 fiscal year, as a result of increased sales volumes,
were partially offset by increases in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and deferred revenue.

Toronto, Ontario
March 30, 2001
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Cash flow from financing activities equalled $587.5 million for the year, including net proceeds after costs of
$580.2 million from the public offering of six million common shares compared to $186.9 million in the prior
year, primarily attributable to the issue of 6,081,913 common shares.
Cash flow used in investing activities equalled $83.9 million for the year ended February 28, 2001, including
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Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements in this management’s discussion and analysis constitute “forward-looking statements” within
the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These include statements
about management’s expectations, beliefs, intentions or strategies for the future, which are indicated by words

capital expenditures of $68.1 million and the acquisition of long-term investments of $20.8 million. Capital

such as “anticipate, intend, believe, estimate, forecast and expect” and similar words. All forward-looking

expenditures in the prior year amounted to $24.4 million.

statements reflect management’s current views with respect to future events and are subject to certain risks and

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities increased by $503.7 million to $721.9 million at February

uncertainties and assumptions that have been made.

28, 2001 compared to $218.2 million at February 29, 2000 due primarily to the net proceeds of $580.2 million
with respect to the public offering of six million common shares completed in the third quarter of fiscal 2001.

Risk Factors

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities accounted for 74% of total assets at February 28, 2001 compared
to 65% in the prior year.

Important risk factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different
from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements include:

Market Risk of Financial Instruments
The Company is engaged in operational and financing activities that generate risk in generally three primary areas:

• continued acceptance of RIM’s products
• ability to manage growth
• intense competition

Foreign Exchange

• rapid technological change

The majority of the Company’s revenues and purchases of raw materials are denominated in U.S. dollars while

• changes in the macroeconomic environment

other operating expenses, consisting primarily of salaries and overhead expenses, are incurred primarily in

• dependence on intellectual property rights

Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company is exposed to a risk relating to foreign exchange fluctuations in

• product defects and product liability

the relationship between the Canadian and U.S. dollar. The Company employs forward contracts to manage its

• expansion of international operations

exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. As at February 28, 2001 the Company has entered

• recruitment and retention of as well as dependence upon key personnel

into foreign exchange contracts to sell U.S. dollars and purchase Canadian dollars with an aggregate notional

• uncertain continuing availability of government research and development incentives and other tax advantages, and

value amount of U.S. $44.5 million. These contracts mature at varying dates with the latest being February 22,

• others as detailed in RIM’s Final Prospectus dated October 26, 2000.

2002. The fair value of the contracts approximates the notional value as at February 28, 2001.

If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if assumptions underlying the forward-looking

The majority of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are denominated in U.S. dollars.

statements prove incorrect, actual results could vary materially from those that are expressed or implied by

The remaining Canadian dollar amount as at February 28, 2001 will be utilized during the first quarter of fiscal

these forward-looking statements.

2002 for Canadian dollar payroll, operating expense and capital expenditure purposes.
Interest Rate

Outlook

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are invested in certain instruments of varying short maturities;

RIM’s strategy is to continue to extend its technical and market lead in the upcoming year. RIM intends to

consequently the Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates.

extend its technology leadership by continuing to invest in core research and the development of next-generation

Marketable securities are subject to market risk in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in

products and solutions as well as by expanding manufacturing capabilities. RIM plans to extend its market lead

market prices. The Company intends to hold all marketable securities investments until maturity and not realize

by strengthening its direct sales efforts, leveraging relationships with existing and new BlackBerry resellers and

any trading gains or losses. In order to reduce credit risk, the Company has invested only in securities of investment

carrier partners, and by expanding BlackBerry into international markets.

grade. Marketable securities from one issuer comprised 14% of the total marketable securities.

The expected launch of products for next-generation wireless networks this year is expected to stimulate growth

When its cash equivalents and marketable securities investments mature and are then rolled over at lower

in North America as new carrier partners are engaged as well as to enable BlackBerry’s entry into Europe. The

interest rates during the first six months of 2002, the Company expects its average yield to decline significantly

first of these carrier relationships is with BT Cellnet in the United Kingdom and we anticipate the launch of

from the average yields realized during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, as a result of recent declines in the

BlackBerry over their network in the summer of this year. We have opened a European office from which we

U.S. prime interest rate.

expect to manage sales, marketing and channel relationships.

Credit and Customer Concentration

Research and development remains an integral part of the Company’s long-term growth outlook. RIM believes

The Company is undergoing significant external sales growth and the resulting growth in its customer base in
terms of both numbers and increased credit limits on some occasions. The Company, in the normal course of
business, monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews the credit history of each new customer.

>

that the functionality of the BlackBerry solution can be further enhanced for both corporate and retail customers.
RIM expects to focus on improving and enhancing the BlackBerry service as well as developing additional
BlackBerry applications.

The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that corresponds to the specific credit risk of

Internally, RIM plans to implement a new enterprise-wide IT infrastructure to allow scalability of the business

its customers, historical trends and economic circumstances. The Company also places insurance coverage

going forward. As well, expansion of office and research and development facilities will provide space for

for a portion of its foreign trade receivables with Export Development Corporation.

additional personnel.

While the Company sells to a variety of customers, at February 28, 2001 one customer comprised 25% of

In summary, RIM is expecting continued growth in revenue driven by BlackBerry subscriber growth as well as

trade receivables. In addition, sales to the Company’s one major customer accounted for 18% of total sales.

RIM Wireless Handheld sales.

Approximately 8% of sales are to customers outside of the United States. The Company expects its percentage
of total sales outside of the United States to increase in fiscal 2002 as a result of executing its planned
expansion of its revenue base into the U.K. and continental Europe.
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Cash flow from financing activities equalled $587.5 million for the year, including net proceeds after costs of
$580.2 million from the public offering of six million common shares compared to $186.9 million in the prior
year, primarily attributable to the issue of 6,081,913 common shares.
Cash flow used in investing activities equalled $83.9 million for the year ended February 28, 2001, including
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Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements in this management’s discussion and analysis constitute “forward-looking statements” within
the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These include statements
about management’s expectations, beliefs, intentions or strategies for the future, which are indicated by words

capital expenditures of $68.1 million and the acquisition of long-term investments of $20.8 million. Capital

such as “anticipate, intend, believe, estimate, forecast and expect” and similar words. All forward-looking

expenditures in the prior year amounted to $24.4 million.

statements reflect management’s current views with respect to future events and are subject to certain risks and

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities increased by $503.7 million to $721.9 million at February

uncertainties and assumptions that have been made.

28, 2001 compared to $218.2 million at February 29, 2000 due primarily to the net proceeds of $580.2 million
with respect to the public offering of six million common shares completed in the third quarter of fiscal 2001.

Risk Factors

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities accounted for 74% of total assets at February 28, 2001 compared
to 65% in the prior year.

Important risk factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different
from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements include:

Market Risk of Financial Instruments
The Company is engaged in operational and financing activities that generate risk in generally three primary areas:

• continued acceptance of RIM’s products
• ability to manage growth
• intense competition

Foreign Exchange

• rapid technological change

The majority of the Company’s revenues and purchases of raw materials are denominated in U.S. dollars while

• changes in the macroeconomic environment

other operating expenses, consisting primarily of salaries and overhead expenses, are incurred primarily in

• dependence on intellectual property rights

Canadian dollars. As a result, the Company is exposed to a risk relating to foreign exchange fluctuations in

• product defects and product liability

the relationship between the Canadian and U.S. dollar. The Company employs forward contracts to manage its

• expansion of international operations

exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. As at February 28, 2001 the Company has entered

• recruitment and retention of as well as dependence upon key personnel

into foreign exchange contracts to sell U.S. dollars and purchase Canadian dollars with an aggregate notional

• uncertain continuing availability of government research and development incentives and other tax advantages, and

value amount of U.S. $44.5 million. These contracts mature at varying dates with the latest being February 22,

• others as detailed in RIM’s Final Prospectus dated October 26, 2000.

2002. The fair value of the contracts approximates the notional value as at February 28, 2001.

If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if assumptions underlying the forward-looking

The majority of the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are denominated in U.S. dollars.

statements prove incorrect, actual results could vary materially from those that are expressed or implied by

The remaining Canadian dollar amount as at February 28, 2001 will be utilized during the first quarter of fiscal

these forward-looking statements.

2002 for Canadian dollar payroll, operating expense and capital expenditure purposes.
Interest Rate

Outlook

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are invested in certain instruments of varying short maturities;

RIM’s strategy is to continue to extend its technical and market lead in the upcoming year. RIM intends to

consequently the Company is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates.

extend its technology leadership by continuing to invest in core research and the development of next-generation

Marketable securities are subject to market risk in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in

products and solutions as well as by expanding manufacturing capabilities. RIM plans to extend its market lead

market prices. The Company intends to hold all marketable securities investments until maturity and not realize

by strengthening its direct sales efforts, leveraging relationships with existing and new BlackBerry resellers and

any trading gains or losses. In order to reduce credit risk, the Company has invested only in securities of investment

carrier partners, and by expanding BlackBerry into international markets.

grade. Marketable securities from one issuer comprised 14% of the total marketable securities.

The expected launch of products for next-generation wireless networks this year is expected to stimulate growth

When its cash equivalents and marketable securities investments mature and are then rolled over at lower

in North America as new carrier partners are engaged as well as to enable BlackBerry’s entry into Europe. The

interest rates during the first six months of 2002, the Company expects its average yield to decline significantly

first of these carrier relationships is with BT Cellnet in the United Kingdom and we anticipate the launch of

from the average yields realized during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2001, as a result of recent declines in the

BlackBerry over their network in the summer of this year. We have opened a European office from which we

U.S. prime interest rate.

expect to manage sales, marketing and channel relationships.

Credit and Customer Concentration

Research and development remains an integral part of the Company’s long-term growth outlook. RIM believes

The Company is undergoing significant external sales growth and the resulting growth in its customer base in
terms of both numbers and increased credit limits on some occasions. The Company, in the normal course of
business, monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews the credit history of each new customer.
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that the functionality of the BlackBerry solution can be further enhanced for both corporate and retail customers.
RIM expects to focus on improving and enhancing the BlackBerry service as well as developing additional
BlackBerry applications.

The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that corresponds to the specific credit risk of

Internally, RIM plans to implement a new enterprise-wide IT infrastructure to allow scalability of the business

its customers, historical trends and economic circumstances. The Company also places insurance coverage

going forward. As well, expansion of office and research and development facilities will provide space for

for a portion of its foreign trade receivables with Export Development Corporation.

additional personnel.

While the Company sells to a variety of customers, at February 28, 2001 one customer comprised 25% of

In summary, RIM is expecting continued growth in revenue driven by BlackBerry subscriber growth as well as

trade receivables. In addition, sales to the Company’s one major customer accounted for 18% of total sales.

RIM Wireless Handheld sales.

Approximately 8% of sales are to customers outside of the United States. The Company expects its percentage
of total sales outside of the United States to increase in fiscal 2002 as a result of executing its planned
expansion of its revenue base into the U.K. and continental Europe.
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Write -Down of Long-Term Investments
The Company made several strategic long-term investments in certain technology companies in fiscal 2001,

To the Shareholders of Research In Motion Limited

>
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generally representing convertible equity ownership positions of less than 10%. The Company did not exercise

The management of Research In Motion Limited is responsible for the preparation of the accompanying financial

significant influence with respect to any of these investees during the year. The Company undertook a

statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, including estimates and

comprehensive review of these long-term investments and determined that the financial, operational and

judgements required for such preparation. The financial information appearing throughout this Annual Report is

strategic circumstances relating to most of these investments were materially and adversely different as at

consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

February 28, 2001 than at the time the investments were originally made.

In fulfilling its responsibility for the reliability and integrity of financial information, management has established and

In its review of these investments for impairment the Company considered the following matters:

maintains a system of internal controls and budgeting procedures. Management believes these systems and controls

• most of the investees required additional funding in the near term but their prospects were limited, both in the
current public and venture capital markets

provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are executed in accordance with management’s
authorization and financial records are reliable for the preparation of consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements are reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee and Board of Directors,

• in certain cases, the investment was made based upon a business model and /or plan that, in the Company’s
view, is no longer likely to be successfully executed, if at all

independent auditors appointed by the shareholders, have examined the consolidated financial statements in

• in certain cases actual “cash burn” rates and revised estimated “costs to market” are now well in excess of
business plans, and

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and their report follows.

• technology being developed is not necessarily proprietary and hence less valuable.

which oversee management’s reporting responsibilities. Zeifman & Company LLP and Ernst & Young LLP, the

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists entirely of non-management independent
directors, meets with management and the independent auditors to ensure that each is discharging its respective

>

The Company has also declined to participate in proposed additional fundings for certain of these investees
subsequent to initial investments.

responsibilities relating to the financial statements. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit

Based upon the foregoing review, the Company determined that an impairment in the carrying values of certain

Committee to discuss audit findings, financial reporting and other related matters.

of its long-term investments had occurred during the fourth quarter; and that the decline in value was other than
temporary. Consequently the Company recorded a write-down of its investments in the amount of $14.8 million.

Income Taxes
Waterloo, Ontario

Mike Lazaridis
President & Co-CEO

Dennis Kavelman
Chief Financial Officer

Effective March 1, 2000 the Company adopted CICA Handbook Section 3465 – Income Taxes on a retroactive
basis without restatement. As a result of adopting the new accounting recommendations, the tax benefit of
previously unrecognized financing costs was reflected as an increase to share capital of $1.1 million.

Auditors’ Report

The Company’s fiscal 2001 consolidated net tax provision and effective tax rate, when compared to its expected
Canadian tax rate after allowing for the manufacturing and processing profits deduction, were materially affected by:

To the Shareholders of Research In Motion Limited
We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Research In Motion Limited as at February 28, 2001 and
February 29, 2000 and the consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings and cash flows for each of
the years in the three year period ended February 28, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

• the $14.8 million write-down of long-term investments. For tax purposes, this write-down would be characterized as
a capital loss and consequently results in a higher effective rate. Additionally, the Company determined that it should
record a valuation allowance against the tax recovery booked on the capital loss because management determined
that it was more likely than not that the Company would not be able to utilize this capital loss carryforward, and
• tax rates in different foreign jurisdictions.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

The Company expects its fiscal 2002 effective tax rate to be approximately 35%.

Net Income
Net income for the current year, before the write-down of long-term investments of $14.8 million, equalled $8.5
million compared to $10.5 million for fiscal 2000. This decrease, despite the growth in gross margin, was

position of the Company as at February 28, 2001 and February 29, 2000 and the results of its operations and

primarily due to the increase in selling, marketing and administration and research and development costs,

its cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended February 28, 2001 in accordance with

with these increases being partially offset by the increase in net investment income.

Canadian generally accepted accounting standards.
As described in note 1(j), effective March 1, 2000 the Company began accounting for income taxes in accordance

Liquidity and Capital Resources

with Section 3465 of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants Handbook. In addition, as described in

Cash flow generated from operating activities was $5.1 million in the current fiscal year compared to cash flow

note 1(o), the Company implemented Section 3500 – Earnings Per Share of the Canadian Institute of Chartered

used in operating activities of $15.7 million in the prior year, an improvement of $20.8 million. Significant

Accountants Handbook.

increases in accounts receivable and inventory during the 2001 fiscal year, as a result of increased sales volumes,
were partially offset by increases in accounts payable, accrued liabilities and deferred revenue.

Toronto, Ontario
March 30, 2001

> 20

Ernst & Young LLP
Chartered Accountants

Zeifman & Company LLP
Chartered Accountants

> 17

Research In Motion Limited

>

> F o r t h e y e a r s e n d e d F e b r u a r y 2 8 , 2 0 01 , F e b r u a r y 2 9 , 2 0 0 0 a n d F e b r u a r y 2 8 , 1 9 9 9

2 0 01 A n n u a l R e p o r t

Gross Margin

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Gross margins increased to $87.5 million or 39.5% in the fiscal year, compared to $36.4 million or 42.8%
in the previous year. The decrease in gross margin percentage was primarily due to changes in the revenue mix.
Fiscal 2001 included a significantly lower proportion of higher margin items such as software, licence and other
types of non-recurring revenues compared to the previous year. This reduced the consolidated gross margin ratio.

As at

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

$

$

Assets
Current

Research and Development
Gross research and development expenditures, primarily composed of salaries for technical personnel, costs of
related engineering materials, software tools and related information technology infrastructure support as well as

Cash and cash equivalents (note 2)
Marketable securities (note 3)
Trade receivables

508,822

126

213,105

218,116

50,268

27,239

subcontracted research and development costs, increased 110% to $25.7 million or 11.6% of revenue in the

Other receivables

13,894

6,035

year ended February 28, 2001 compared to $12.2 million or 14.4% in the previous year. After accounting for

Inventory (note 4)

68,044

36,852

government funding in the form of expense reimbursements and investment tax credits of $7.4 million for the

Prepaid expenses

2,932

6,014

857,065

294,382

Capital assets (note 5)

95,208

39,297

Investments (note 11)

5,779

–

current year and $4.5 million in the previous year, net research and development expenditures in fiscal 2001
represented 8.3% of total revenues versus 9.1% in the previous year. The Company benefited from a full year’s
government funding reimbursement with respect to its second of two project development agreements with
Technology Partnerships Canada (“TPC”) in fiscal 2001, versus a partial year in fiscal 2000, as the agreement
with TPC was negotiated and finalized during fiscal 2000.

Selling, Marketing and Administrative Expenses

Future income tax assets (note 6)

12,011

3,548

$

970,063

$

337,227

$

45,892

$

11,033

Liabilities
Current

Selling, marketing and administrative expenses were $65.2 million for the current year, compared to $13.9
million for fiscal 2000. Consistent with its long-term strategic objectives and planning, RIM increased its
expense levels and personnel numbers to support BlackBerry and other sales and distribution channels including
Cingular Interactive, Aether Systems, Motient Corporation, America Online and Compaq Computer Corporation.
Additionally, increased expenses resulted from:
• increased sales and marketing initiatives due to BlackBerry
• continued focus on joint channel marketing activities
• additional direct sales personnel
• increased infrastructure and staffing in customer fulfilment activities such as a call centre, order entry and
processing, enhancements to billing systems, etc., and
• increased infrastructure and staffing in administrative, financial and legal services to better support the
Company’s dramatic rate of internal growth.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Income taxes payable
Deferred revenue
Current portion of long-term debt (note 7)

Long-term debt (note 7)

3,842

1,815

10,870

6,277

198

185

60,802

19,310

6,328

6,526

67,130

25,836

891,014

293,261

11,919

18,130

Shareholders’ equity
Capital stock (note 8)
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity

902,933
$

970,063

311,391
$

337,227

Amortization
Amortization expense increased by $3.9 million to $8.6 million or 3.9% of revenue for the year ended February

Commitments and contingencies (note 9)
See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

28, 2001 from $4.7 million or 5.5% in the prior year. The current year’s expense reflects the incremental effect of
a partial year’s amortization expense for fiscal 2001 capital expenditures of $68.1 million plus a full year’s

On behalf of the Board

amortization for the prior year’s capital expenditures. The Company made major additions in the 2000 and 2001
fiscal years, including land and office buildings, production equipment and tooling, research and development
computers and equipment and computer infrastructure for the BlackBerry solution. Additionally, RIM made a

Jim Balsillie

Douglas Wright

Director

Director

significant investment in the acquisition, configuration and implementation of a fully integrated SAP software
and business processes engineering solution system; the first phase is scheduled for implementation during the
second quarter of fiscal 2002. Amortization of this capital investment will commence once the system has been
implemented successfully.

Investment Income
Investment income increased to $22.9 million in the year ended February 28, 2001 from $6.0 million in the
prior year. The increase primarily reflects the Company’s increased interest earnings on the higher average cash,
cash equivalents and marketable security balances during the last two quarters of the current fiscal year resulting
from the Company’s share issue, which realized net proceeds after financing costs of $580.2 million.
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Results of Operations
Operating Highlights
(U.S. $000’s)

Fiscal 2001

Increase/
(Decrease)

Fiscal 2000

For the year ended

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000,

February 28, 1999

Revenue

$

221,327

$

84,967

$ 136,360

Revenue

$

$

$

47,342

Gross margin

$

87,475

$

36,393

$

51,082

$

(1,959)

221,327

84,967

Cost of sales

133,852

48,574

28,767

Gross margin percentage

Gross margin

87,475

36,393

18,575

Net income before write-down of long-term investments

Research and development (net of government funding) (note 10[a])

18,281

7,738

4,382

Selling, marketing and administration

65,200

13,904

6,546

8,645

4,683

2,783

92,126

26,325

13,711

Amortization

Income (loss) from operations

(4,651)

10,068

4,864

$

Year ended February 28, 2001

$

5,968

3,790
8,654

Write-down of long-term investments (note 11)

14,750

–

–

3,520

16,036

8,654

Current

4,720

1,888

2,245

Future

5,011

3,650

–

9,731

5,538

2,245

Year ended February 29, 2000

6,409

Revenue

Retained earnings, beginning of year

10,498

18,130
$

11,919

7,632

1,223

$

18,130

$

7,632

Earnings (loss) per share (note 12)
Basic

$

(0.08)

$

0.16

$

0.10

Diluted

$

(0.08)

$

0.14

$

0.10

$

10,498

$

10,498

(3.3%)

–

(6,211)

Third Quarter

$

34,486

16,036

(6,211)

90,079

Gross margin

18,270

Net income (loss)

Fourth Quarter

Revenue

22,921

Provision for income taxes (note 6)

8,539

Selected Quarterly Financial Data – Unaudited

Income before write-down of long-term investments and income taxes

Income before income taxes

42.8%

14,750

Net income (loss)

Investment income

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

$

Write-down of long-term investments

Expenses

Retained earnings, end of year

39.5%

Second Quarter

61,629

$

23,704

42,521

First Quarter

$

17,144

27,098
12,141

Net income (loss) before write-down
of long-term investments

8,280

Net income (loss)

1,496

(1,625)

$

(6,470)

$

1,496

$

Basic

$

(0.08)

$

0.02

$

Diluted

$

(0.08)

$

0.02

$

(1,625)

388
$

388

(0.02)

$

0.01

(0.02)

$

–

Earnings (loss) per share

Fourth Quarter

$

Gross margin

25,801

Third Quarter

$

10,267

Net income

Second Quarter

23,689

$

10,836

19,278

First Quarter

$

16,199

8,503

6,787

$

3,209

$

3,181

$

2,322

$

1,786

Basic

$

0.05

$

0.05

$

0.03

$

0.03

Diluted

$

0.05

$

0.04

$

0.03

$

0.03

Earnings per share

Revenue
Revenue increased 160% to $221.3 million from $85.0 million for the year ended February 28, 2001. This
increase was primarily due to sales of BlackBerry, which accounted for 54% of revenues and the RIM Wireless
Handhelds, which accounted for 37% of the Company’s revenues. The remaining 9% of revenue was comprised
of OEM radio modems, software licence revenue, non-recurring engineering charges and wireless PC cards. For
the year ended February 29, 2000, BlackBerry accounted for 19% of revenue, the RIM Wireless Handhelds
for 56% and the remaining 25% of revenue was comprised of OEM radio modems, software licence revenue,
non-recurring engineering charges and wireless PC cards.

Revenue by Product

Revenue by Product

Fiscal 2001

Fiscal 2000

OEM & Other

OEM & Other
9%

37%

RIM Wireless
Handhelds

25%
56%
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RIM Wireless
Handhelds

19%

54%
BlackBerry

>
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended

Overview

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

February 28, 1999

$

$

$

Cash flows from operating activities
In fiscal 2001, Research In Motion continued its dramatic growth as an

Net income (loss) for the year

internationally recognized leader in wireless communications. The BlackBerry

Items not requiring an outlay of cash:

wireless email solution again proved to be a main revenue-driver for RIM,
increasing beyond internal expectations to 54% of revenue in fiscal 2001
versus 19% in the previous year. We anticipate that BlackBerry will continue
to drive the Company’s growth in the future with the development of nextgeneration devices and applications.
Tight execution of RIM’s business plan contributed to the success of
BlackBerry Enterprise Edition for Lotus Domino, wireless calendar support

Chief Financial Officer

for BlackBerry and the RIM 857 Wireless Handheld.

10,498

6,409

Amortization

9,123

4,683

2,783

Future income taxes

5,011

3,650

–

Non-cash transaction

–

Write-down of long-term investments (note 11)

(3,000)

14,750

Foreign exchange gain

–

–

(8)

fiscal 2001. During fiscal 2001, the Company developed and introduced
Dennis Kavelman

(6,211)

–

(162)

(342)

22,665

15,669

8,850

(23,029)

(16,110)

(3,582)

Net changes in non-cash working capital items related to operations:
Trade receivables

Revenue for the year increased 160% to $221.3 million from $85.0 million in the previous year.

Other receivables

Net income before the write-down of long-term investments (the “write-down”) of $14.8 million decreased to

Inventory

$8.5 million from $10.5 million. Net loss after the write-down was $6.2 million.

Prepaid expenses

RIM’s revenues are generated through a number of sources. Sales of wireless handhelds to large corporate

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(7,859)

(4,649)

(31,192)

(17,040)

3,082

931

34,859

3,269

customers, strategic partners and network operators continue to yield significant revenue streams for the Company.

Income taxes payable

2,027

(2,679)

Additionally, the Company now earns an increasing amount of its revenues from recurring monthly revenues for

Deferred revenue

4,593

4,862

BlackBerry services. Revenues are also generated from:

5,146

1,111
(9,469)
(3,782)
6,173
735
1,274

(15,747)

1,310

• sales of enterprise server software and user licences
• sales of radio modems to OEM manufacturers

Cash flows from financing activities
2,585

2,177

289

• non-recurring engineering development services
• software licences.

Issuance of share capital and warrants

615,551

198,535

49

Financing costs

(30,462)

(9,065)

257

Sales and marketing channels include direct sales to corporate customers, distribution by network carriers and

Repayment of debt

(185)

(15)

–

Government funding received to offset capital asset acquisitions

Internet service providers and distribution by value-added resellers for the BlackBerry solution.

587,489

191,632

(24,419)

595

Cash flows from investing activities

Basis of Presentation

Acquisition of capital assets

(68,146)

The Company historically measured and presented its financial statements in Canadian dollars. Effective

Acquisition of long-term investments

(20,812)

September 1, 1999, as a result of the Company’s increased economic activity in the United States (“U.S.”),

Acquisition of marketable securities

the U.S. dollar became the functional currency of the Company’s operations and for the financial statements of

Proceeds on sale and maturity of marketable securities

(388,672)

Foreign exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents

in a currency other than the Canadian dollar were translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in effect

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the year

at the period-end and revenues and expenses were translated at the average rate during the period. Any resulting
gains or losses were included in income. For periods subsequent to August 31, 1999, foreign currency denominated
assets and liabilities of the Canadian parent company and wholly-owned subsidiaries that are considered to be fully
integrated operations are translated into United States dollars, the currency of measurement, using the temporal

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

126
508,822

(57,116)

162

508,696

$

29,374

(185,539)

8

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

(77,630)

98,848

(83,947)

For periods up to and including August 31, 1999, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company denominated

–

(259,968)

393,683

the Company. Effective the same date, the U.S. dollar was adopted as the reporting currency.

(8,860)

–

$

342

(9,492)

(54,869)

9,618

64,487

126

$

9,618

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.

method. Accordingly, monetary assets and liabilities are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance
sheet date, non monetary assets and liabilities at historical exchange rates, and revenues and expenses at the rates
of exchange prevailing when the transactions occurred. Resulting exchange gains and losses are included in income.
Any unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses relating to monetary items with fixed or ascertainable lives extending
beyond one year from the balance sheet date are deferred and amortized over the remaining period.
Historical financial statements and notes thereto up to and including August 31, 1999 have been restated into
U.S. dollars, in accordance with Canadian GAAP, using the August 31, 1999 closing exchange rate being a rate
of Cdn. $1.4888 per U.S. $1.00.
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> Research In Motion Limited

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Software applications for BlackBerry and RIM handhelds are now

Nature of Business

receiving additional exposure to the user community by being

Research In Motion Limited (the “Company”) is in the business of designing, manufacturing and marketing wireless

distributed on the Web by Handango™, Inc., and Tucows.Com™, Inc.

Internet appliances and services and radio modems for the mobile data communications market. The Company was

With their distribution capabilities, eCommerce solutions, and

incorporated on March 7, 1984 under the Ontario Business Corporations Act. The Company’s shares trade publicly on
The Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol RIM and on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol RIMM.

developer relationships, they will be able to help create a strong market for third-party
applications that support RIM products and services.

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) General – These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Canada (“Canadian GAAP”) on a basis consistent with prior years,

Partnerships

which conforms in all material respects with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“U.S. GAAP”), except as presented in note 17.
(b) Basis of consolidation – The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the subsidiaries
with intercompany transactions and balances eliminated. All of the subsidiaries are wholly-owned.
(c) Use of estimates – The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance

> Certicom™ Corp.– July 2000: RIM and Certicom,

> Motient – December 2000: RIM announced an

a leading provider of mobile eCommerce security,
announced an agreement to enable trusted mobile
commerce over wireless networks.

expanded relationship with Motient, whereby
RIM will resell Motient’s wireless data network
services in conjunction with BlackBerry through
RIM’s distribution channels.

with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions

> Compaq– August 2000: RIM and Compaq expanded

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities

their relationship to offer customers an end-to-end
wireless email solution, co-branded as the iPAQ™
BlackBerry Wireless Email Solution.

as at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
(d) Foreign currency translation – Foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities of the Canadian parent
company and wholly-owned subsidiaries that are considered to be fully integrated operations are translated into
United States dollars, the currency of measurement, using the temporal method. Accordingly, monetary assets
and liabilities are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, non monetary assets

> Rogers AT&T – September

2000: Rogers AT&T
announced they will be distributing BlackBerry
Enterprise Edition, in addition to BlackBerry
Internet Edition™, in Canada.

and liabilities at historical exchange rates, and revenues and expenses at the rates of exchange prevailing when

from the balance sheet date are deferred and amortized over the remaining period.

> Bell Mobility – September 2000: Bell Mobility
announced they will offer BlackBerry Enterprise
Edition and BlackBerry Internet Edition in Canada.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash balances with banks and short-term

> Cingular – November

the transactions occurred. Resulting exchange gains and losses are included in income. Any unrealized foreign
exchange gains or losses relating to monetary items with fixed or ascertainable lives extending beyond one year

investments with original maturities of less than three months.
(f) Marketable securities – Marketable securities include preference shares, debentures and discount notes with
original maturities in excess of three months and are carried at the lower of cost and market value.
(g) Inventory – Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost determined on a
first-in-first-out basis. Cost includes the cost of materials plus direct labour applied to the product and the
applicable share of manufacturing overhead.
(h) Capital assets – Capital assets are stated at cost and amortization is provided using the following methods:
Buildings and leaseholds

- Straight-line over terms between 5 and 40 years

Information technology

- Straight-line over five years

Furniture, fixtures, tooling, equipment and other

- 20% per annum on declining balance for furniture,
fixtures, tooling and equipment; straight-line over
seventeen years for other

(i) Long-term investments – Long-term investments in companies where the Company has less than a 20%
ownership interest and does not control or exercise significant influence are accounted for by the cost method.
The Company regularly reviews the carrying values of its long-term investments to determine whether a decline

2000: RIM signs supply
agreement with Cingular for RIM handhelds as
well as a distribution agreement for BlackBerry.

> AOL– November 2000: AOL announced availability
of AOL Mobile Communicator, which provides
wireless access to AOL email and instant messaging
using RIM Wireless Handhelds.

> QUALCOMM®

Incorporated – December 2000:
QUALCOMM and RIM announced a Code Division
Multiple Access (CDMA) subscriber unit licence
agreement.

> EarthLink – December 2000: America’s second
largest Internet service provider, EarthLink,
announced its launch of the BlackBerry wireless
email solution.

> Vaultus – January 2001: Vaultus and RIM formed
a strategic alliance to deliver wireless solutions
that enable enterprise customers to reduce costs
and gain greater sales efficiencies.

> IBM Global Services – January 2001: IBM Global

“As a wireless email
client, it’s a dream.”
ZDNET

Services announced plans to add BlackBerrybased solutions to its portfolio of wireless
solutions and establish a team to focus on the
integration of BlackBerry with enterprise email
and intranet backend systems.

> BT Cellnet – February

2001: BT Cellnet signed
a supply agreement to distribute the BlackBerry
wireless email solution in the U.K.

> Lucent

Technologies, Inc.– March 2001: Lucent
and RIM announced they will cooperate in
interoperability testing for next- generation
networks and coordinate trials with mobile
network operators around the world.

> Microcell

Connexions Inc. – December 2000:
RIM and Microcell announced a relationship
whereby they will work together to enable RIM’s
future products and services to be based on GPRS
technology and operate on Microcell’s GSMbased national network.

other than temporary in nature has occurred with any.
(j) Income taxes – Effective March 1, 2000, the Company adopted the new accounting recommendations related
to income taxes on a retroactive basis without restating the financial statements of any prior periods. As a result of
adopting the new accounting recommendations, the previously unrecognized benefit of financing costs of $1.1 million
has now been reflected as an adjustment to share capital. Retained earnings was unaffected by this change.
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In March 2001, RIM announced another major breakthrough in wireless enterprise applications
with the introduction of wireless calendar support for BlackBerry. With wireless calendar

Under this new accounting standard, the liability method of tax allocation is used to account for income taxes.
Under this method, future tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon differences between the financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and measured using the substantially enacted tax rates and laws

synchronization, BlackBerry Enterprise Server and BlackBerry Wireless Handhelds exchange

that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

calendar events wirelessly and securely. The user’s online calendar and handheld calendar

Prior to the adoption of the new accounting standard, the provision for income taxes was determined using the

are automatically synchronized over-the-air without need of a cradle. Now, with wireless
email and calendar, customers can stay connected to the information that drives their day.
Finally, we are very proud of having the BlackBerry Wireless Handheld awarded the FIPS

deferral method of tax allocation under which income taxes are provided for in the year in which transactions
affect net income regardless of when such transactions are recognized for tax purposes.
(k) Revenue recognition – The Company earns revenue primarily from sales of handheld devices, wireless
services and software licence arrangements.
Revenue from the sale of handheld device products and other equipment is recognized when title is transferred

140-1 Validation for its embedded encryption technology by the National Institute of

to the customer, all significant contractual obligations have been satisfied, the sales price is fixed and

Standards and Technology (NIST). FIPS 140 -1 Validation is an important, and often

determinable and collection is reasonably assured. Provisions are made at the time of sale for warranties, royalties

mandatory, purchasing criteria for many organizations and will help facilitate continued
adoption of BlackBerry in the government sector.
By continuing to invest in the right people, technology and tools, RIM will ensure that
BlackBerry remains the leader in the wireless email marketplace.

and estimated product returns.
Revenue from wireless services and software licences is recognized rateably on a monthly basis in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the customer contracts and when collection is reasonably assured.
Revenue from the sale of software is recognized in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition.
Deferred revenue relates primarily to amounts received from service subscribers for services to be provided in
future periods.

Third-Party Applications

(l) Warranty expense – The Company provides for a warranty expense at the time of shipment based on an estimate
of these anticipated costs.

In the last year, there have been many custom solutions and applications announced that

(m) Research and development – The Company is engaged at all times in research and development work.

are designed to work with RIM Wireless Handhelds and the BlackBerry solution. Some of

Research and development costs, other than capital asset acquisitions, are charged as an operating expense of
the Company as incurred unless they meet generally accepted accounting principles for deferral.

these include Web content services, eBusiness tools, financial applications, pharmaceutical
(n) Government assistance – Government assistance towards research and development expenditures is received

services and attachment handling software.

as grants from Technology Partnerships Canada and in the form of investment tax credits. Assistance related to
the acquisition of capital assets used for research and development is credited against the related capital assets

> AvantGo 4.0 M-Business Server™ from AvantGo™
Inc. and BlackBerry handhelds, together allow
enterprises to deploy wireless Web-based
business applications and email solutions to
mobile professionals.

> Motient and Yahoo!® teamed together to provide

“I’ve been using (RIM’s)
BlackBerry for the
past two months and
have found it to be a
transforming experience.”
Internet Week

> 12

a wireless service, branded as eLink Fortified with
Yahoo!, allowing consumers easy access to Yahoo!
content and services via Motient’s network and
RIM handhelds.

> Information Builders Inc. offers WebFOCUS-based
applications integrated with BlackBerry. WebFOCUS
is an integrated suite of Business Intelligence
tools through which organizations can deliver
information easily and instantly to management,
employees, customers, partners and vendors.

to extend enterprise applications and information
to BlackBerry handhelds.

and all other assistance is credited against related expenses, as incurred.
(o) Earnings per share – Basic earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of shares

> OracleMobile™, Inc. and RIM are working together

outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is calculated on the weighted average number of shares that

to promote Ask@OracleMobile and Oracle “Portalto-Go” via BlackBerry. With Ask@OracleMobile,
users of RIM handhelds can get Web information
and services whenever they want by sending a
short email.

would have been outstanding during the year had all the dilutive options been exercised at the beginning of the

> E*TRADE launched its integrated brokerage and
banking solution on RIM Wireless Handhelds.

reported except that diluted earnings per share for the year ended February 29, 2000 decreased from $0.15 to $0.14.

> RxRite.com Inc. announced

in note 8(b). The options are granted at the fair market value of the shares on the day of grant of the options.

an ePrescription
application built on the BlackBerry wireless email
solution that enables physicians to connect with
its Internet-based prescription service.

> ItrezzoAgent from Itrezzo, converts file attachments

> Brience, Inc. and RIM are working together to offer

sent to the user’s BlackBerry handheld via email.

corporations wireless access to a broad range of
existing enterprise applications in addition to
corporate email systems to enable corporations

> InStep Group announced InStep Print™ support

year, or date of issuance, if issued during the fiscal year. Effective March 1, 2000, the Company has adopted the
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants recommendations relating to the accounting for earnings per share. The
recommendations require the application of the treasury stock method for the calculation of the dilutive effect of stock
options and have been applied retroactively. There is no impact on basic or diluted earnings per share previously

(p) Stock-based compensation plan – The Company has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described
No compensation expense is recognized when stock options are issued to employees. Any consideration paid
by employees on exercise of stock options is credited to share capital.

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised as follows:
February 28, 2001

for the BlackBerry handhelds, providing them
with the ability to print.

>

Balances with banks

$

Short-term investments

6,002

February 29, 2000

$

502,820
$

508,822

(2,252)
2,378

$

126
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Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of money market investment funds, corporate bonds, bank certificates
of deposit, high grade commercial and government agency paper and government treasury bills. Carrying values
of these investments approximate market value and will generate an approximate weighted average yield of 5.3%
as at February 28, 2001. The short-term investments as at February 28, 2001 all have maturity dates of less
than three months.
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European Expansion
In January 2001, RIM announced its first major European supply agreement to supply BT
Cellnet with BlackBerry Enterprise Edition for distribution in the U.K. The supply agreement
includes an initial commitment from BT Cellnet to order 175,000 BlackBerry Wireless

3. Marketable Securities

Handhelds™ with associated software and service. BlackBerry will operate over BT Cellnet’s

Marketable securities are comprised as follows:

new GPRS (General Packet Radio Service) high-speed network.

Preferred shares

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

$

$

–

Bonds and debentures
Discount notes

4,702

32,168

102,489

180,937

110,925

The GPRS standard and the BlackBerry solution were both designed to enable “always-on”
operation and allow users to maintain a virtual connection to the wireless network. The GPRS

218,116

network, which is based on a packet data technology, has been designed as an extension

Carrying values of preferred shares, bonds and debentures and discount notes approximate market value.

of the existing circuit-switched GSM (Global System for Mobile telecommunications)

Investments in bonds and debentures and discount notes represent holdings in corporate and government notes

network infrastructure.

$

213,105

$

with approximate average yields of 5.6% on February 28, 2001 (2000 – 5.4%). The marketable securities as at
February 28, 2001 all have maturity dates of less than six months.

The convergence of these technologies has allowed RIM to design the BlackBerry 5800

4. Inventory

Series of wireless handhelds to satisfy all the communication needs of a mobile professional.

Inventory is comprised as follows:

In addition to email and Short Messaging Service (SMS), RIM will also ship the BlackBerry

did a great job creating
a wireless phenomenon.

Raw materials

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

$

$

51,535

build from.”
Fortune

32,616

6,665

2,733

integrated support for Java 2 Micro Edition (J2ME), which opens application development

Finished goods

9,844

1,503

to a large, growing community of Java technology developers worldwide.

$

68,044

$

Now it has a base to

5800 Series of handhelds with built-in support for voice. These handhelds will also have

Work in process

36,852

RIM has also signed memoranda of understanding with two additional European carriers

5. Capital Assets

to offer BlackBerry to their corporate customers. Esat Digifone (in Ireland) and Telfort

Capital assets are comprised as follows:

Mobiel B.V. (in The Netherlands) are deploying a nationwide GPRS network in their respective

February 28, 2001
Accumulated
amortization

Cost

Land

“Research In Motion

$

6,845

$

–

Net book value

$

6,845

Buildings and leaseholds

26,741

1,276

25,465

Information technology

41,410

8,131

33,279

Furniture, fixtures, tooling, equipment and other

39,045
$

114,041

9,426
$

18,833

29,619
$

countries that will support the BlackBerry wireless email solution.

95,208

Technological Advancements
Over the past year, RIM has also announced numerous software improvements for BlackBerry.
BlackBerry Enterprise Edition for Lotus Domino was introduced in January 2001. This
announcement approximately doubled the number of potential enterprise customers that now

February 29, 2000
Accumulated
amortization

Cost

Land

$

3,110

$

–

Net book value

$

3,110

have the ability to stay wirelessly connected to their corporate email through BlackBerry.
It also was the first wireless handheld solution to offer tight integration with Lotus Notes

Buildings and leaseholds

12,528

539

11,989

Information technology

14,481

3,453

11,028

and Domino together with end-to-end security and ‘Always On,

13,170

Always Connected ®’ operation. BlackBerry Enterprise Edition for

Furniture, fixtures, tooling, equipment and other

18,883
$

49,002

5,713
$

9,705

$

39,297

Lotus Domino has already been recognized for its usability and
During the prior year, land and buildings in the amount of $6,726 were acquired by the assumption of mortgages.

integration with Lotus Domino by receiving the Editor’s Choice Gold
Award from Lotus Advisor Magazine.
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6. Income Taxes
The difference between the amount of the provision for income taxes and the amount computed by multiplying
income before taxes by the statutory Canadian rate is reconciled as follows:
February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

44.0%

44.6%

Expected Canadian tax rate
Expected tax provision

$

1,549

$

February 28, 1999

44.6%

7,156

$

3,861

Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:
Manufacturing and processing activities

A part of BlackBerry’s success can be attributed to the strategic alliances that RIM has
formed with many multinational companies to deliver BlackBerry to enterprise customers.
Some of these partners include Aether, Bell Mobility, Cingular, Compaq, IBM, Motient,
Rogers AT&T, Vaultus and more.

(1,095)

Utilization of tax loss carryforwards
Research and development tax incentives

(288)

–

Non-deductible portion of unrealized capital losses

3,245

–

–

Foreign tax rate differences

2,080

–

–

995

572

427

$

February 28, 2001

$

Foreign

Berry Amazing

of BlackBerry in the enterprise market.
BlackBerry has been recognized by many
as the leading brand for wireless email and
has received numerous awards:

9,731

$

5,538

$

2,245

>

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

Canadian

increased the awareness and recognition

(252)

February 29, 2000

February 28, 1999

Income (loss) before income taxes:

in their organizations.

for BlackBerry, which has dramatically

(285)
–

BlackBerry and more than 2,300 companies with BlackBerry Enterprise Server installed

national advertising and branding campaign

(1,791)

3,245

These alliances have helped BlackBerry experience a phenomenal growth rate over the

In April 2000, RIM launched its first

–

(838)

Change in valuation allowance

Other differences

past year of 160%. By the end of February 2001, there were over 7,800 companies using

(1,067)

–

(2,485)

$

6,005
$

3,520

16,036

$

–
$

8,654
–

16,036

$

8,654

> Editor’s Choice Award: In March 2001, BlackBerry
was named Editor’s Choice by Lotus Advisor
Magazine for its usability and integration with
Lotus Domino.

February 28, 2001

Wireless Productivity Award: In February
2001, BlackBerry won eWeek’s excellence Award
for Best Wireless Productivity.

$

Foreign

2,296

$

2,424

1,888

$

–

2,245
–

Future
Canadian

5,011
$

> 2000 PC World Award: In June 2000, BlackBerry
won the World Class Award for Best Wireless
Communication Device, from PC World Magazine
for its small and lightweight design and constant
access to email.

February 28, 1999

Current
Canadian

> Best

February 29, 2000

Provision for income taxes:

9,731

3,650
$

–

5,538

$

2,245

The tax effects of significant temporary differences are as follows:
February 28, 2001

Assets
Financing costs

$

11,779

Non-deductible reserves

3,245

Research and development incentives

4,286

Other tax carryforwards

1,507
20,817

Less: valuation allowance

3,245
17,572

Liabilities
Capital assets
Net future income tax assets

> 10

5,561
$

12,011
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The Company believes that a degree of uncertainty exists regarding the realization of those future tax assets and
that a valuation allowance is required. The Company will continue to evaluate and examine the valuation on
a regular basis, and as future uncertainties are resolved, the valuation allowance may be adjusted accordingly.
The Company has not provided for Canadian future income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on undistributed
earnings of its non-Canadian subsidiaries, since these earnings are intended to be re -invested indefinitely.

7. Long-Term Debt
During the previous fiscal year, the Company assumed long -term debt as a result of acquiring certain real estate
properties for its ongoing operations. At February 28, 2001 long -term debt consisted of three 6.75% mortgages,
against which certain land and buildings are pledged as collateral, due December 1, 2003, with total monthly
principal and interest payments of $52.

RIM Wireless Handhelds are revolutionary communication devices that allow mobile professionals

The long-term debt principal payments for the years 2002 through 2004 are as follows:

to send and receive email wherever they go. All RIM handhelds incorporate breakthrough

For the year ending
2002

$

2003
2004

198

wireless technology to deliver simple, mobile email access. Our handhelds are sold with a

211

variety of third-party solutions including: AOL Mobile CommunicatorSM, Motient’s eLink SM Fortified

6,117
$

6,526

At February 28, 2001 and February 29, 2000, the Company had not drawn on its authorized operating line
of credit of $13,000 (Cdn.$20,000). The line of credit bears interest on the outstanding balance at the
bank’s prime rate of 7.25% (2000 – prime rate equalled 6.75%). Any balance owing is due on demand and is

with Yahoo!™ and Cingular’s Interactive Messaging PLUS service.
RIM Wireless Handhelds are also an integral component of RIM’s BlackBerry wireless email
solution. BlackBerry Enterprise Edition, an end-to-end solution developed by RIM, is a

subject to a general security agreement.

complete, secure, integrated wireless email solution designed for corporate environments.

The line of credit is subject to compliance with certain covenants. The Company was in compliance with all

It combines advanced RIM Wireless Handhelds with desktop utilities, enterprise server

“BlackBerry has chosen

software, end-to-end encryption technology and tight integration with wireless data networks.

to do one very difficult

covenants as at February 28, 2001 and February 29, 2000.

thing – business email –

8. Capital Stock

extremely well.”

(a) Share capital – The Company has authorized an unlimited number of non-voting, redeemable, retractable
Class A common shares, an unlimited number of voting common shares and an unlimited number of non-voting,
cumulative, redeemable, retractable preferred shares. There are no Class A common shares or preferred shares
outstanding.

BusinessWeek

BlackBerry
Since its introduction in January 1999, BlackBerry has quickly

The following details the changes in issued and outstanding common shares and common share purchase
warrants for the period from February 28, 1998 to February 28, 2001:

become the leading wireless email solution for mobile professionals.
More importantly, BlackBerry has fundamentally changed the way

Number of Common Shares Outstanding

people interact with information and each other. It truly has become

Common shares

Common share
purchase warrants

Total

63,968,087

139,000

64,107,087

291,028

–

291,028

64,259,115

139,000

64,398,115

BlackBerry is especially popular in the financial and legal communities.

6,081,913

–

6,081,913

Some of the companies in these industries that have implemented

795,297

–

795,297

–

75,000

75,000

BlackBerry include: Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation, Merrill Lynch & Co, Inc.,

71,136,325

214,000

71,350,325

Salomon Smith Barney Inc., Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP and Holland & Knight LLP.

6,000,000

–

6,000,000

Exercise of options

999,793

–

999,793

Exercise of warrants

134,391

Balance, February 28, 1998
Exercise of options
Balance, February 28, 1999
Issued for cash
Exercise of options
Warrants issued
Balance, February 29, 2000
Public offering

Balance, February 28, 2001

78,270,509

(139,000)
75,000

(4,609)
78,345,509

an indispensable solution for those who use it.

BlackBerry is also gaining recognition within the United States
and Canadian governments. In the last year, BlackBerry has been
added to several government purchasing contracts including the
U.S. government GSA (General Services Administration) schedule.
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Recently, Forbes Magazine named BlackBerry

Share Capital
Common share
purchase warrants

Common shares

as one of seven cult brands (including Nike

Balance, February 28, 1998

$

99,567

Exercise of options
Income tax reduction resulting from financing costs

99,567
49

–

(262)

519

–

519

99,873

–

99,873

196,744

–

196,744

1,791

–

1,791

–

370

Balance, February 28, 1999
Issued for cash

Total

$

–

(262)

Exercise of options

evolved into a national brand name.

–

49

Financing costs

and Ben & Jerry’s) that has successfully

$

Warrant issued
Financing costs

(9,887)

Income tax reduction resulting from financing costs

370

–

(9,887)

4,370

–

4,370

Balance, February 29, 2000

292,891

370

293,261

Public offering

610,664

–

610,664

4,887

–

Exercise of options
Financing costs

(30,462)

Income tax reduction resulting from financing costs
Balance, February 28, 2001

12,664
$

890,644

4,887

–

(30,462)

–
$

370

12,664
$

891,014

During the year ended February 28, 2001 the Company issued 134,391 common shares in exchange for 139,000
common share purchase warrants and no cash consideration. During the year ended February 29, 2000, the
Company issued a common share purchase warrant which entitles the holder to acquire 75,000 common shares for
$20.83 each from August 17, 2000 to August 17, 2004. This transaction was a non-cash transaction. The
Company has determined that the fair value of the warrant was $370 using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model which assumes an expected life of one year, volatility of 60%, risk free interest rate of 4.5% and no
expected dividend yield.
(b) Stock option plan – The Company has an incentive stock option plan for all of its directors, officers and
employees. The option exercise price is the fair market value of the Company’s common shares at the date of
grant. These options vest over a period of five years after which they are exercisable for seven or ten years after
the grant date. As at February 28, 2001, there were 7,919,890 options outstanding with exercise prices ranging
from Cdn.$3.40 to Cdn.$179.00. Options issued and outstanding for 1,337,000 shares are vested. There are
4,438,460 shares available for future grants under the plan.

RIM Products and Services

A summary of option activity since February 28, 1998 is shown below (in Canadian dollars):
Options Outstanding

RIM has an international reputation as a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of
innovative wireless solutions for the mobile communications market. At the core of RIM’s
products is leading-edge radio technology. This technology has been incorporated into all

Number (in 000’s)

Weighted average
exercise price

Range

Balance, February 28, 1998

4,231

$0.05 - $7.25

$

3.68

Granted during the year

2,860

$5.00 - $13.40

$

6.45

of RIM’s products, including our industry-leading radio modems and award-winning

Exercised during the year

(340)

$0.05 - $6.25

$

1.14

RIM Wireless Handhelds.

Cancelled during the year

(268)

$0.05 - $6.15

$

6.10

RIM’s radio modems are a family of high-performance radio-frequency transceivers designed for

Balance, February 28, 1999

6,483

$3.40 - $13.40

$

4.87

Granted during the year

1,821

$11.55 - $101.00

$

24.77

Exercised during the year

(826)

$3.40 - $13.85

$

4.35

integration into products by value-added resellers, system integrators and original equipment

Cancelled during the year

(235)

$3.40 - $48.40

$

7.49

manufacturers. They are specifically designed to integrate easily into portable devices.

Balance, February 29, 2000

7,243

$3.40 - $101.00

$

10.73

1,767

77.89

Granted during the year

Some recent applications include wirelessly enabling: ATM’s, point-of-sale terminals, laptops,
security systems, vending machines, automatic utility meter reading, Automatic Vehicle

>

$35.45 - $179.00

$

Exercised during the year

(1,018)

$3.40 - $74.85

$

9.17

Cancelled during the year

(72)

$3.40 - $179.00

$

56.47

$3.40 - $179.00

$

25.32

Balance, February 28, 2001

7,920

Location and fleet management /dispatching.
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The weighted average characteristics of options outstanding as at February 28, 2001 are as follows

Focus for Fiscal 2002

(in Canadian dollars):
Options Outstanding (000’s)

Options Exercisable (000’s)

Number
Outstanding at
February 28, 2001

Weighted average
remaining
life in years

$3.40 - $5.00

2,430

5.72

3.62

1,040

$5.25 - $9.60

2,115

4.78

6.23

171

6.17

$11.25 - $27.60

1,076

5.07

13.62

79

12.42

$29.40 - $73.50

1,553

6.35

54.61

38

57.27

746

6.59

106.09

9

92.20

Range of
exercise prices

$74.50 - $179.00
Total

Weighted average
exercise price

$

Number
Outstanding at
February 28, 2001

7,920

We discussed RIM’s strong performance relative to the specific goals we described in last

Weighted average
exercise price

year’s Letter to Shareholders. Going forward, we expect RIM’s core strategy to remain the

$

same – strong execution of our business plan. As RIM grows, the scale, scope and complexity

3.45

1,337

of business issues are magnified, but remaining focused on execution in research and
development, manufacturing, sales, marketing and information technology will continue
to move us forward.
In the upcoming year, we are targeting continued strong growth in demand for BlackBerry,

9. Commitments and Contingencies
(a) Lease commitment – The Company is committed to lease payments under operating leases for premises

both in North America and Europe, continued development of new products and services,

as follows:

expansion of our internal capabilities and the continued addition of strong technical, sales

For the year ending

and management personnel.

2002

$

1,628

2003

1,488

2004

1,364

2005

1,331

2006

1,331

Our specific goals for fiscal 2002 are as follows:
1. Continue to substantially increase the BlackBerry user base in North America for both
“BlackBerry wins

Microsoft ® Exchange and Lotus Domino environments.
(b) Contingency – In 1999, the Company was served with a complaint alleging that certain of the Company’s
products infringe a patent held by another party. This party had offered to extend to the Company a non-exclusive
licence under the patent for a one-time licencing fee of $4 million. The Company declined the licence and
has vigorously defended the infringement claim. The likelihood of loss and the ultimate amount, if any, are not
determinable at this time. Accordingly, no amount has been recorded in these financial statements.

2. Launch BlackBerry in Europe with BT Cellnet in the United Kingdom and major carriers

hands-down when it
comes to easy and
timely access to

in other European countries.
3. Launch BlackBerry with GSM/GPRS carriers in North America.
4. Complete development of our CDMA devices.

email messages.”
InfoWorld

10. Government Assistance
(a) Current expense – The Company has entered into two project development agreements with Technology
Partnerships Canada (“TPC”), which provide partial funding for certain research and development projects.
Funding from TPC for the “first project” totalled $3,900, and is repayable in the form of royalties of 2.2%
on gross product revenues resulting from the project. The Company is obligated to pay royalties on all project
revenues up to February 28, 2003, after which time the royalty base is expanded to include revenues from certain

5. Leverage the new Java 2 Micro Edition (J2ME) platform environment to catalyze
third-party development of software applications.
6. Transition to new SAP information system within RIM to further enable IT and
systems scalability.

additional products, and royalties will continue to be paid up to a maximum of $6,100.

7. Bring the new manufacturing facility online.

The second agreement with TPC, which was entered into during the previous fiscal year, is a three year research

8. Maintain the culture of innovation, growth and achievement.

and development project (the “second project”) under which total contributions from TPC will be a maximum of
$23,300. This contribution will be repayable in the form of royalties of 2.2% on gross product revenues resulting
from the second project. The Company is obligated to pay royalties on all project revenues up to February 28,
2007, after which time the royalty base is expanded to include revenues from certain additional products.

We thank you for your support during the past year and look forward to continued
success in fiscal 2002.

Royalties will continue to be paid up to a maximum of $39,300.
The Company has accrued $999 (2000 – nil) with respect to the first project. No amounts have been accrued

Yours Sincerely,

with respect to the second project as the conditions for repayment have not yet been met.
Government assistance, together with investment tax credits, has been applied to reduce research and development
expense as follows:
For the year ended
February 28, 2001

Research and development – gross

$

Less: government funding
Research and development – net

> 30

25,675

February 29, 2000

$

7,394
$

18,281

12,234

February 28, 1999

$

7,921

$

4,382

4,496
$

7,738

Mike Lazaridis

Jim Balsillie

President & Co-CEO

Chairman & Co-CEO

3,539

>7

> For the years ended February 28, 2001, February 29, 2000 and February 28, 1999

(b) Capital assets – The Company received $2,585 in government assistance towards the cost of capital assets
used in research and development activities (2000 – $2,177).
The Company was in compliance with all terms and conditions in respect to its two project development
agreements with TPC as at February 28, 2001 and February 29, 2000.

11. Write-Down of Long-Term Investments
During the year, the Company undertook a comprehensive review of the companies in which it had made long-term
investments earlier in the fiscal year. Based upon that review, the Company determined that impairment in the
carrying values of certain of its long-term investments did occur; the Company further determined that for certain
of these investments the decline in value suffered was other than temporary in nature. Consequently the Company
recorded a write-down in values totalling $14,750.

12. Earnings Per Share
The treasury stock method assumes that proceeds received upon the exercise of all warrants and options outstanding
in the period are used to repurchase the Company’s shares at the average share price during the period.

Manufacturing

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share.
For the year ended

Our manufacturing team successfully scaled production levels to match increased demand
February 28, 2001

over the past year without compromising quality. We have purchased a significantly larger

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share

manufacturing facility and expect it to be operational later this year. This new facility will

available to common stockholders

$

(6,211)

February 29, 2000

$

10,498

February 28, 1999

$

6,409

Denominator for basic earnings per share –

increase capacity from approximately one million units per year to over six million and will
be capable of manufacturing our current products as well as next-generation products. We
expect this new facility to support our growth over the next several years.
We believe our strategy of manufacturing RIM’s products in-house remains correct. The

to BlackBerry... and

180

64

–

6,203

2,643

–

6,383

2,707

73,555

72,996

66,855

Dilutive potential common shares:
Denominator for diluted earnings per share – adjusted

Basic

$

(0.08)

$

0.16

$

0.10

Diluted

$

(0.08)

$

0.14

$

0.10

13. Statement of Cash Flows Supplemental Information
The following summarizes interest and income taxes paid:
Year ended

of enabling and extending the business plans of our partners rather than placing ourselves

anyone who wants a

in contention with other members of the value chain. To be integrated with the wireless

mobile email product.”

plan of so many carriers, computer manufacturers, software companies, portals and Internet

InformationWeek

Service Providers (ISPs) is a testament to the fact that RIM is seen as an enabler of their
business plans.
In addition to channels and customers, RIM also partners with strategic suppliers.
Incorporating suppliers into our plans and vision early in the design process has produced
significant benefits, including preferred access to the best and newest component and chip
technologies.

>6

–

Earnings (loss) per share

would recommend it to

64,148

Employee stock options

control over quality and closely managing relationships with suppliers directly has been

RIM has been able to successfully leverage partnerships and alliances due to our strategy

66,613

Warrants

weighted average shares and assumed conversions

Partnerships and Alliances

73,555

Effect of dilutive securities:

benefits of integrating manufacturing with research and development, maintaining tight

strategic and effective.

“ We grew quite attached

weighted average shares outstanding (000’s)

February 28, 2001

Interest paid during the year
Income taxes paid during the year

$

456
897

February 29, 2000

$

–
756

February 28, 1999

$

–
389

14. Financial Instruments
The majority of the Company’s revenues and purchases of raw materials are realized in U.S. dollars while other
operating expenses, consisting generally of salaries and overhead, are incurred primarily in Canadian dollars.
As a result, the Company is exposed to a risk relating to foreign exchange fluctuations. At February 28, 2001,
approximately $16,426 or 3% of cash and cash equivalents, 11% of trade receivables and 27% of accounts
payable and accrued liabilities are denominated in Canadian dollars (2000 –157%, 18%, and 25%, respectively).

>
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The Company mitigates this risk in part by maintaining Canadian dollar funds. The Company also utilizes certain
financial instruments to manage the risk associated with fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. As at February
28, 2001 the Company has entered into foreign exchange contracts, which have been designated as hedge
instruments, to sell U.S. dollars and purchase Canadian dollars with an aggregate value amount of U.S. $44.5
million (2000 – nil). These contracts mature at varying dates with the latest being February 22, 2002. Gains
and losses on these hedging instruments are recognized in the same period as, and as part of, the hedged
transaction. There was no significant unrealized gain or loss on these contracts as at February 28, 2001.
Marketable securities are subject to market risk in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market

This allows us to focus on our core areas of expertise and to leverage the strength of the

prices. In order to reduce credit risk, the Company has invested only in securities of investment grade. Marketable
securities from one issuer comprised 14% (2000 – one issuer comprised 34%) of the total marketable securities.

combined sales and support resources of these channel partners.

The Company, in the normal course of business, monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews
the credit history of each new customer. The Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that

Technology

corresponds to the specific credit risk of its customers, historical trends and economic circumstances. The
allowance as at February 28, 2001 is $4,976 (2000 – $64).

RIM’s core area of expertise continues to be industry-leading

While the Company sells to a variety of customers, one customer comprised 25% of trade receivables as at

wireless technology and enterprise software. In the past, we high-

February 28, 2001 (2000 – two customers, 46% and 18%). Additionally, 18% of the Company’s sales were to

lighted our focus on these fundamentals and this focus has not

one customer (2000 – two customers, 31% and 25%).
For certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including trade receivables, other receivables, accounts

changed. As in the past, we continue to invest heavily in recruiting

payable and accrued liabilities, the carrying amounts approximate their respective fair values due to their short

the most outstanding people and providing them with the best

maturities. Cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities and long-term debt are carried at cost, which

possible tools and equipment to extend RIM’s technology lead.

approximates their respective fair values.

15. Segment Disclosures

We have 331 technical personnel at RIM, up from 186 last year. We are also substantially

The Company is organized and managed as a single reportable business segment. The Company’s operations are

expanding our technical facilities in Waterloo and Kanata, and have added a new facility

substantially all related to the research, design, manufacture and sales of wireless data communications products.
Operations include the manufacture of radios and other network access devices for the original equipment

in Toronto. We increased gross research and development (R&D) spending during the year

manufacturers as well as wireless products for the aftermarket. Substantially all revenue is derived from sales to

from $12.2 million to $25.7 million and expect to continue deploying more resources in this

customers in the United States. 8% of sales are to customers outside of the United States (2000 – 7%).

area during the upcoming year.

Financial information on the Company’s geographic areas is as follows:

Valdis Martinsons

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

February 28, 1999

$

$

$

United States

16,721
204,606

$

221,327

6,187
78,780

$

84,967

3,246
44,096

$

capabilities and continuous improvements to the BlackBerry offering.

47,342

Sales and Marketing

Total Assets
Canada

Chief Information Officer

development of new product form-factors, the extension of RIM’s enterprise software

Sales
Canada

Major projects in the upcoming year include the launch of next-generation products, the

$

United States

246,446

$

337,227

717,744

United Kingdom

5,873
$

970,063

$

–

Last year we discussed the goal of increasing the strength and awareness of the

–

BlackBerry brand.

337,227

The level of BlackBerry brand awareness has increased substantially in the past year.
16. Comparative Figures
Certain of the prior years’ figures have been reclassified for consistency with the current presentation.

Targeted advertising and the advertising campaigns of our partners, combined with a
tremendous amount of press and word of mouth, has led to high BlackBerry brand

The Company historically measured and presented its financial statements in Canadian dollars. Effective
September 1, 1999, as a result of the Company’s increased economic activity in the United States, the U.S.

awareness in the corporate community and in popular culture.

dollar became the functional currency of the Company’s operations and for the financial statements of the
Company. Effective the same date, the U.S. dollar was adopted as the reporting currency.

A major initiative for the sales and marketing group going forward will be preparing to
enter and support the European market as well as bringing online many new channel and
GPRS network partners.
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For periods up to and including August 31, 1999, the monetary assets and liabilities of the Company denominated
in a currency other than the Canadian dollar were translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rate in
effect at the period-end and revenues and expenses were translated at the average rate during the period. Any
resulting gains or losses were included in income. For periods subsequent to August 31, 1999, transactions
which were incurred in currencies other than the U.S. dollar (the new functional currency) have been converted
to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the transaction date. Carrying values of non-U.S. dollar monetary
assets and liabilities are adjusted at each balance sheet date to reflect the functional currency rate in effect
at that date and any gains and losses from this restatement are included in income. Non-monetary assets are
translated at the historical exchange rate on the date of acquisition.
Historical financial statements and notes thereto up to and including August 31, 1999 have been restated into

Finance

U.S. dollars, in accordance with Canadian GAAP, using the August 31, 1999 closing exchange rate being a rate
of Cdn.$1.4888 per U.S.$1.00.

RIM’s revenue grew 160% from $85 million to $221 million. Revenue growth was driven by
BlackBerry, as well as new handheld supply relationships with companies such as America
Online, Inc. (“AOL”) and continued handheld sales to our carrier partners at Cingular SM
Interactive LLC (formerly BellSouth Wireless Data) and Motient™ Corporation.

17. Summary of Material Differences Between Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP) in Canada and the United States

>

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Canada (“Canadian GAAP”) which conform in all material respects with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) except as set forth below:

RIM has an extremely strong balance sheet after completing a follow-on equity offering
Consolidated Balance Sheets

in November 2000 that raised $580 million. At year-end, RIM had over $720 million in
cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities. We believe that these financial

Total assets under Canadian GAAP

assets will provide the resources necessary to continue to grow the business.

Adjustment – Future income taxes (a)

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

$

$

–

Adjustment – Start-up costs (b)

BlackBerry
BlackBerry continues to grow as the core driver of RIM’s business, establishing itself as
the corporate standard for wireless data communications in North America over the past

970,063

337,227
1,158

(1,357)

–

Total assets under U.S. GAAP

$

968,706

$

338,385

Total shareholders’ equity under Canadian GAAP

$

902,933

$

311,391

–

Adjustment – Future income taxes (a)
Adjustment – Start-up costs (b)

1,158

(1,357)

Total shareholders’ equity under U.S. GAAP

$

901,576

–
$

312,549

year. Users within corporations and government rely on BlackBerry to keep them connected
Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the year ended

to information and each other.
As we launch in Europe this summer, we believe BlackBerry will enjoy the same rapid
take-up and level of success as it has in North America.
The launch of BlackBerry Enterprise Edition for Lotus Domino effectively doubles our

Manufacturing

(6,211)
–

10,498
(336)

(1,357)

Foreign currency translation (c)
Earnings (loss) per share under U.S. GAAP

6,409
336

–

–

–

8

(22)

$

(7,568)

$

10,170

$

6,723

Basic

$

(0.10)

$

0.15

$

0.10

Diluted

$

(0.10)

$

0.14

$

0.10

$

(7,568)

$

10,170

$

opportunity for growth.

Other comprehensive income (loss) (d):

In North America, we added many channel partners for BlackBerry during the past year.

Foreign currency translation adjustment (c)

Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP

Aether™ Systems Inc., Bell Mobility ®, Cingular, Compaq® Computer Corporation, GoAmerica

$

Start-up costs (b)

previously been only able to read about BlackBerry and see others using it. With the

Production and

February 28, 1999

$

Future income taxes (a)

Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP

Larry Conlee

February 29, 2000

$

Adjustments

potential market in North America. Companies using Lotus Notes ® and Domino have

widespread availability of BlackBerry for Lotus Domino, we believe there is a significant

Chief Operating Officer,

Net income (loss) under Canadian GAAP

February 28, 2001

Comprehensive income (loss) under U.S. GAAP

–
$

(7,568)

1,474
$

11,644

6,723
(6,236)

$

487

Communications Corp., Motient, SkyTel® Communications, Inc., Rogers™ AT&T®, Vaultus,
Inc., and now IBM® (International Business Machines) all began selling BlackBerry as part
of their product offerings.
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(a) Income taxes – For the years ended February 29, 2000 and February 28, 1999, under Canadian GAAP the
Company used the deferral method of accounting for income taxes such that deferred assets or liabilities arise
from differences between financial statement income and taxable income. For the year ended February 28, 2001,
there is no longer any material difference in accounting for income taxes between Canadian GAAP and U.S.
GAAP as a result of the accounting policy change in note 1(j).

Management Team

The tax effects of significant temporary differences in the prior year under U.S. GAAP are as follows:
February 29, 2000

Assets

We have added significant strength to the RIM team across all levels and departments. Three
significant additions are Don Morrison – Chief Operating Officer of BlackBerry, Larry Conlee –

Income tax losses available for carryforward

$

1,212

Financing costs

4,819

Research and development incentives

2,945
$

Chief Operating Officer of Production and Manufacturing, and Valdis Martinsons – Chief
Information Officer.

8,976

Don Morrison has operating responsibility for all customer-facing parts of RIM’s business,

Liabilities
Capital assets

4,270

Net future income tax assets

$

4,706

including all aspects of the BlackBerry service. Don’s background includes senior management
positions with AT&T Corp. in the U.S. and internationally, as well as senior management

(b) Start-up costs – The Company has capitalized as at February 28, 2001 the expenses incurred during the start-up
of the Company’s United Kingdom operations, scheduled to commence later in fiscal 2002. U.S. GAAP, Statement
of Position 98-5, Reporting on the Cost of Start-up Activities, prescribes that start-up costs should be expensed
as incurred.
(c) Change in functional currency – Effective August 31, 1999, the Company adopted the U.S. dollar as its
reporting currency. Prior to this change the Canadian dollar had been used as the Company’s reporting currency.

Don Morrison

positions with Bell Canada ®.

Chief Operating Officer,

Larry Conlee has operating responsibility for all engineering and production related activities

BlackBerry

at RIM, including all product development. Larry spent over 20 years at Motorola™, Inc.,
holding several senior management positions in their cellular and paging divisions.

Under Canadian GAAP, the Company’s financial statements for all periods presented through August 31, 1999
have been translated from Canadian dollars to U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect at August 31, 1999.
Under U.S. GAAP, the financial statements for the periods prior to the change in reporting currency must be
translated to U.S. dollars using the current rate method, which uses specific year end and specific annual average

Valdis Martinsons is responsible for information technology and systems at RIM and oversees
the network operations centre for the BlackBerry service. One of Valdis’ initial projects is the

exchange rates as appropriate. The significant differences arising from the application of the current rate

implementation of an SAP system (an Enterprise wide Resource Planning system) for the

method to the periods presented are the effects on net income and comprehensive income described above.

Company. Valdis formerly held the senior management position in Information Technology at

(d) Statements of comprehensive income – U.S. GAAP, SFAS 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, establishes
standards for the reporting and display of comprehensive income and its components in general-purpose financial
statements. Comprehensive income is defined as the change in net assets of a business enterprise during a period
from transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources, and includes all changes in equity

ATI™ Technologies Inc.
We are extremely pleased with these strong, experienced additions to the RIM team.

during a period except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. The only reportable
item of comprehensive income is the foreign currency translation in note 17 (c).
(e) Earnings per share – The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share
Employee Growth by Department Fiscal 1999 – 2001

under U.S. GAAP.

400

400

300

300

300

200

200

403
400

adjusted weighted average shares
and assumed conversions

73,555

72,996

66,855

Earnings (loss) per share under U.S. GAAP

186

300

Denominator for diluted earnings (loss) per share –

> 34

400

6,723

200
100

Basic

$

(0.10)

$

0.15

$

0.10

Diluted

$

(0.10)

$

0.14

$

0.10

100

0

200

0

100

136

$

104

10,170

213

$

70

(7,568)

500

100

34

$

500

118

available to common stockholders

500

309

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share

500

120

February 28, 1999

41

February 29, 2000

331

For the year ended
February 28, 2001

0

0

99 00 01

99 00 01

99 00 01

99 00 01

Research and Development

Sales and Marketing

Finance, Administration and IT

Manufacturing
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“We are pleased to report that the BlackBerry

(f) Accounting for stock compensation – Under U.S. GAAP, for any stock option with an exercise price that is
less than the market price on the date of grant, the difference between the exercise price and the market price
on the date of grant is recorded as compensation expense (“intrinsic value based method”). The Company grants

user base increased substantially to

stock options at the fair market value of the shares on the day preceding the date of the grant of the options.
Consequently, no compensation expense is recognized. This method is consistent with U.S. GAAP, APB Opinion
25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.

165,000 users in over 7,800 companies.”

SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, requires proforma disclosures of net income and
earnings per share, as if the fair value based method as opposed to the intrinsic value based method of accounting
for employee stock options had been applied. The disclosures in the following table show the Company’s net
income and earnings per share on a proforma basis using the fair value method as determined by using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model include:
For the year ended
Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

February 28, 1999

$

$

$

Estimated stock-based compensation costs
Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP

(7,568)
11,782

10,170
3,261

6,723
1,656

$

(19,350)

$

6,909

$

5,067

Basic

$

(0.26)

$

0.10

$

0.08

Diluted

$

(0.26)

$

0.09

$

0.08

Proforma net income (loss) per common share

Weighted average number of shares (000’s)
Basic

73,555

66,613

64,148

Diluted

73,555

72,996

66,855

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the following periods were calculated as follows using
the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:
For the year ended
Weighted average Black-Scholes value of options

February 28, 2001

February 29, 2000

February 28, 1999

$

$

$

34.82

10.77

1.92

Assumptions:

2001 Letter to Shareholders
Fellow Shareholders,
In fiscal 2001 we continued RIM’s tradition of growth and accomplishment. Revenue grew

Risk free interest rates

4%

4% - 5%

4% - 5%

Expected life in years

3.5

3.5

4.0

Expected dividend yield
Volatility

0%

0%

0%

100%

60% - 90%

50%

from $85 million to $221 million (an impressive 160% organic growth rate) as the number
(g) Recently issued pronouncements – Under Staff Accounting Bulletin 74, the Company is required to disclose certain

of companies adopting BlackBerry grew from 2,900 to over 7,800.

information related to new accounting standards which have not yet been adopted due to delayed effective dates.

The specific goals we laid out in last year’s annual report were to substantially increase
the BlackBerry user base, to deliver BlackBerry Enterprise

Edition™

for

Lotus®

Domino™,

to

FASB Statement No.133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, (“Statement 133”), as
amended by FASB Statements No. 137 and 138, is effective for the Company’s year ending February 28, 2002.
Statement 133 requires companies to recognize all of its derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the

implement Java™ support and to develop next-generation wireless devices and enter new

consolidated balance sheet at fair value and establish certain criteria to be met in order to designate a derivative

international markets.

instrument as a hedge and to deem a hedge as effective. The Company is currently assessing the impact of
Statement 133 on its consolidated financial position and results of operations.

We are pleased to report that the BlackBerry user base increased substantially to 165,000
users. BlackBerry for Lotus Domino was launched in January and is already being rolled
out in hundreds of corporations. Java support has been integrated and will be running on
all of RIM’s next-generation handhelds. We have completed our BlackBerry handheld for
GPRS/GSM and have announced relationships with carriers in Europe including BT Cellnet®
Limited, Esat Digifone, and Telfort Mobiel B.V.
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Shareholder Information

Officers

Board of Directors

Mike Lazaridis

Jim Balsillie

at the Canadian Clay and Glass Gallery

President and Co-Chief

Chairman and Co-Chief

25 Caroline Street North

Executive Officer

Executive Officer

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
Tuesday, July 31, 2001 at 6:30pm

221.3

Annual Revenue
250
225

Larry Conlee

Operations

Financial Highlights

75
50

2001

(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)

2000

Douglas Wright 1,2

Engineering and

President Emeritus,

Manufacturing

University of Waterloo

Computershare Trust Company of Canada

Revenue

$

221,327

$

84,967

$

47,342

Don Morrison

E. Kendall Cork 1,2

1800 McGill College Avenue, 6th Floor

Chief Operating Officer,

Managing Director,

Gross margin

$

87,475

$

36,393

$

18,575

Montreal, Quebec, H3A 3K9

BlackBerry

Sentinel Associates Ltd.

Tel: (+1) 514.982.7295

Net income

Douglas Fregin

Jim Estill 1

Fax: (+1) 514.982.7665

(before write-down of long-term investments)

$

8,539

$

10,498

$

6,409

Vice President,

President & Chief

Auditors

Write-down of long-term investments

$

14,750

$

–

$

–

Operations

Executive Officer,

Ernst & Young LLP

Net income (loss)

$

$

10,498

$

6,409

Chief Legal Officer and

1

Corporate Secretary

2

Valdis Martinsons
Chief Information
Officer
David Yach
Vice President,
Software

Audit Committee
Compensation Committee

0

Email: investor_relations@rim.net

Transfer Agent

97 98 99 00 01

Statement of Operations Data

Net Income
(before write-down of
long-term investments)

12

Chartered Accountants

10

515 Riverbend Drive

Earnings per share

P.O. Box 9458, Station C

(before write-down of long-term investments)

(6,211)

$ millions

Charles Meyer

25

1999

Chief Operating Officer,

EMJ Data Systems Ltd.

100

Year ended last day of February

Tel: (+1) 519.888.7465
Fax: (+1) 519.888.6906

85.0

Vice President,

Waterloo, Ontario, N2L 3W8

125

Kitchener, Ontario, N2G 4W9
Zeifman & Company LLP
Chartered Accountants
201 Bridgeland Avenue
Toronto, Ontario, M6A 1Y7

Stock Exchange Listings

Basic

$

0.12

$

0.16

$

0.10

Diluted

$

0.11

$

0.14

$

0.10

8.5

Chief Financial Officer

295 Phillip Street

10.5

Douglas Fregin

8
6.4

Dennis Kavelman

Research In Motion Limited

6
4
2
0

0.4

Executive Officer

0.0

Executive Officer

175
150

47.3

Investor Relations

200

20.9

Shareholder Inquiries

President and Co-Chief

6.6

Mike Lazaridis

Chairman and Co-Chief

$ millions

Jim Balsillie

97 98 99 00 01

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic

$

(0.08)

$

0.16

$

0.10

Diluted

$

(0.08)

$

0.14

$

0.10

Nasdaq National Market
Symbol: RIMM
The Toronto Stock Exchange

Operating Data (percentage of revenue)

Symbol: RIM

Gross margin

39.5%

42.8%

39.2%

Corporate Office

Gross research and development

11.6%

14.4%

16.7%

Research In Motion Limited

Selling, marketing and administration

29.5%

16.4%

13.8%

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities

$ 721,927

$ 218,242

$

Total assets

$

970,063

$ 337,227

$ 117,898

Shareholders’ equity

$ 902,933

$ 311,391

$ 107,505

295 Phillip Street
Waterloo, Ontario, N2L 3W8

Corporate Web Site
www.rim.net
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Research In Motion Limited is a leading
designer, manufacturer and marketer
of innovative wireless solutions for the
mobile communications market.

Through development and integration of hardware, software and services, RIM® provides
solutions for seamless access to time-sensitive information including email, messaging,
Internet and intranet-based applications. RIM technology also enables a broad array of
third-party developers and manufacturers around the world to enhance their products and
services with wireless connectivity. RIM’s portfolio of award-winning products includes the
RIM Wireless Handheld™ product line, the BlackBerry™ wireless email solution, embedded

© 2001 Research In Motion Limited. All rights reserved. The BlackBerry and RIM families of related marks, images and symbols are
the exclusive properties and trademarks of Research In Motion Limited. RIM, Research In Motion, “Always On, Always Connected”,

radio modems and software development tools.

the ‘envelope in motion’ symbol and the BlackBerry logo are registered with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and may be pending
or registered in other countries. All other brands, product names, company names, trademarks and service marks are the properties of

Founded in 1984 and based in Waterloo, Ontario, RIM operates offices in Canada, the

their respective owners.

United States and England. RIM is listed on the Nasdaq Stock Market (Nasdaq: RIMM) and

Forward-looking statements in this annual report are made pursuant to the “safe harbor” provisions of the United States Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Investors are cautioned that such forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties,

the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSE: RIM). Investors may contact investor_relations @rim.net.

including, without limitation, risks relating to possible product defects and product liability, risks related to international sales and potential
foreign currency exchange fluctuations, risks related to the year 2000 issue, continued acceptance of RIM’s products, increased levels

Web sites: www.rim.net and www.blackberry.net

of competition, technological changes, dependence on intellectual property rights and other risks detailed from time to time in RIM’s
periodic reports filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and other regulatory authorities. Printed in Canada.

Research In Motion Limited
295 Phillip Street, Waterloo
Ontario Canada N2L 3W8
Tel : 519.888.7465
Fax : 519.888.6906
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